

# DEPARTMENT OF APPLIED IT IT FACULTY

# Communication Professionals as the Office Factotum:

A Study of Emotional Labour and Well-Being in the Communication Profession

#### **Authors**

Evelina Winberg
Jordan Thunell Idumwonyi

Master thesis: 30 hp

Programme: Master in Communication

Level: Second Cycle

Year: 2023

Supervisor: Cristina Miguel

Examiner: Guro Sanden and Lexin Lin

Report no: 2023:107 Word count: 15189

#### **Abstract**

This thesis investigated the concept of emotional labour for communication professionals in an internal communication context. Recently, the well-being of communication professionals has caught public attention in Sweden since the communication practitioner is considered an office factorum or all-purpose servant with numerous responsibilities and activities and is frequently overwhelmed by their multifaceted work assignments. The theoretical framework for this study consisted of the concept of emotional labour and the Job Demands-Resources (JD-R) theory. Previous literature has focused on emotional labour in service and health occupations in an external communication context, where the outcomes of using different emotional labour strategies have impacted employee well-being, both positively and negatively. This thesis carried out a single case study based on data collected from 20 semi-structured in-depth interviews with communication professionals from three occupational sectors in Sweden, and thematic analysis was used to analyse the data. The findings revealed that communication professionals engage in emotional labour in an internal communication context, using surface acting and genuine emotions, whereas deep acting was undiscovered. This resulted in different outcomes for their well-being, although job satisfaction remained high. Before experiencing burnout, surface acting was more prevalent, and after recovery, genuine emotions were more common. This indicated that surface acting might be considered a maladaptive self-regulation strategy and genuine emotions an adaptive self-regulation strategy. Finally, regarding the current state of knowledge, this study aimed to contribute to further comprehension of emotional labour in an internal communication context, and

additional exploration of JD-R integrated with different emotional labour strategies is suggested.

Keywords: communication professionals, emotional labour, internal communication, job demands-resources theory, well-being

# **Acknowledgements**

The authors would like to express their heartfelt gratitude to everyone who has contributed to this thesis. First and foremost, we would like to thank all participants for their valuable contributions and time spent undergoing interviews. This study would not have been possible without their willingness to share their knowledge, perspectives, and experiences. Furthermore, we want to thank Cristina Miguel, our research supervisor, for her guidance and consistent support throughout the research process. The insightful feedback, constructive criticism, and patient mentoring all contributed significantly to the depth and quality of this thesis. Finally, our appreciation to our loved ones, Sara, and William, for their unwavering support, patience, and understanding throughout this academic journey. Their encouragement, belief in our abilities, and willingness to listen during difficult times have kept us motivated and focused.

# **Table of Contents**

lr	ntroduction	1
	Research Background	1
	Research Problem	4
	Aim and Research Questions	5
	Thesis Outline	6
Li	terature Review	8
	Emotional Labour	8
	Emotional Labour Strategies	10
	Emotional Labour Implications	12
	Internal Communication	13
	Emotional Labour in Internal Communication	15
	The Communication Profession	17
	Job Demands-Resources Theory	19
	Summary	22
N	1ethod	24
	Research Design	24
	Sampling Method	26
	Data Collection	. 27
	Data Analysis	31

Quality Criteria	34
Ethical Considerations	35
Discussion	38
Expectations of Communication Professionals	38
Emotional Labour in the Communication Profession	41
Surface Acting in Internal Communication	43
Genuine Emotions in Internal Communication	46
Impact on Well-Being	48
Main Findings and Research Questions	53
Conclusion	58
Main Conclusions	58
Research Implications	61
Limitations and Further Research Directions	62
References	64
Appendices	81
Appendix 1	81
Appendix 2	83
Appendix 3	84
Appendix 4	86
Annendix 5	87

#### Introduction

# **Research Background**

The interest in how emotions affect organisational and individual outcomes has received recognition among organisational scholars, particularly since Arlie Hochschild's (1983) pioneering work on emotional labour. Today there is compelling evidence suggesting that organisations regulate the emotional expression of their employees through feeling rules and that conforming to these rules is psychologically demanding, resulting in emotional labour among workers (Becker & Cropanzano, 2011; Yeomans, 2019). The research field of organisational communication emerged in the post-war United States (Schad, 2018). During this time, organisational communication scholars sought to improve employee work life and productivity. In the 1980s, a paradigm shift emerged that was more centred on interpretive methods. There was now a focus on communication skills, organisational culture, cross-cultural communication, and networks. Schad (2018) explained that, as the millennium approached, scholars extended their interests, and since then, organisational communication has been examined using various philosophical and theoretical approaches.

Several scholars have argued that the field of organisational communication in Sweden has primarily focused on public information, such as health and crisis communication, as well as internal communication, such as communication between management and employees, as well as communication strategies and efficiency (Palm & Sandström, 2013; Schad, 2018). Internal communication is defined by Yeomans and

FitzPatrick (2017) as a company-controlled communication system in which employees are regarded as an internal public or stakeholder group. The authors also emphasised terms like employee communication, organisational communication, and internal marketing. The managed communication system in an organisation might include various channels and activities, such as newsletters, noticeboards, employee briefings, and intranets.

Furthermore, it is crucial to understand the role of internal communication, the existing challenges, and how clear and consistent messaging, employee involvement, and feedback mechanisms are critical for the organisation (Yeomans & FitzPatrick, 2017).

Emotional labour has had a significant impact on a variety of disciplines, including sociology, psychology, education, and organisational studies (Bellas, 1999; Benesch, 2017; Bolton, 2005; Fuoli & Bednarek, 2022; Hochschild, 2012; Levine Brown et al., 2022; Sommerfeldt & Kent, 2020). According to Fineman (2004), no academic discipline has exclusive rights to emotion, and its potential multifacetedness allows for various approaches to inform it. Fineman (2004) contended that the interest in emotion in organisational behaviour is growing because what humans feel is just as important as what they think or do. The majority of emotional labour research has focused on culturally homogeneous environments and emotional expressions in service-oriented professions and frontline workers, where positive or neutral emotions are frequently required due to the high level of interaction with clients, customers, or patients (Afsar et al., 2017; Alsakarneh et al., 2019; Dall'Ora et al., 2020; Hochschild, 1983; Kim & Williams, 2022; Oliveira et al., 2023; Sommerfeldt & Kent, 2020; Van Gelderen et al., 2017; Wojcik et al., 2022). Therefore, more research has been conducted on emotional labour in an external communication context with patients and customers than in an internal communication context with co-workers and team members in organisations (Glikson & Erez, 2013). The internal communication

context is a relatively unexplored area for emotional labour research and necessitates further investigation (Grandey et al., 2007; Hu & Shi, 2015; Lee & Madera, 2019).

Several studies have explored emotional labour in education (Kelly et al., 2021; Lyndon et al., 2021; Monrad, 2017), including how academics suppress or alter emotions in interactions with students and colleagues (Bellas, 1999), how feeling rules can induce emotional labour for English language teachers (Benesch, 2017), and how preschool teachers engage in emotional labour through interactions with children, families, and colleagues (Levine Brown et al., 2022). Furthermore, Sommerfeldt and Kent (2020) investigated Public Relations professors in their encounters with colleagues and acquaintances. The authors argued that Public Relations professors are frequently required to respond neutrally to impolite statements and that combating negative remarks about the field may result in emotional labour. Sommerfeldt and Kent (2020) stated that emotional labour research should be expanded and applied to other professions to advance research.

In Public Relations in the United Kingdom, Yeomans (2019) discovered that gendered performance and identity work are characteristics of emotional labour. The author investigated how, when, and why emotional labour is used in everyday Public Relations agency practice and who is typically involved in this work. Yeomans (2019) found that emotional labour is a distinguishing feature of professionalism, and that Public Relations practitioners must constantly legitimise themselves through strenuous interactions with external stakeholders to gain respect. Furthermore, Bridgen (2011) argued that emotion is essential in day-to-day Public Relations activities and thus has a connection to individual and organisational success. The author contended that Public Relations professionals use their emotions in a complex way that moves beyond Hochschild's analysis since the personal and professional realms have become so intertwined that it is difficult to distinguish between

them. Similarly, Svedin and Juteström (2021) investigated emotional labour and the exploitation and commercialisation of the lifeworld of communication practitioners in Sweden. They discovered that social media has increased stress and encroached on their personal lives.

#### **Research Problem**

The field of communication is expanding in scope and significance, with almost every organisation, company, and authority professionalising their communication activities. Palm and Sandström (2013) argued that communication is now a fundamental productive power and an organisational inevitability. Furthermore, the contemporary communication field is occupied by various professional capacities, some generalists, others specialists, often in central positions or near centres of power. Broom and Smith (1979) developed a typology of communication practitioner roles, including expert prescriber, communication technician, communication process facilitator, and problem-solving process facilitator, implying that communication professionals should be deeply involved in organisational processes. Therefore, communication professionals frequently are expected to perform a plethora of tasks (Fyke et al., 2022; Heide & Simonsson, 2011; Killingsworth & Flynn, 2016; Simonsson & Heide, 2021; Zerfass & Viertmann, 2017). Because they often are expected to do everything, their role could be defined as a 'factotum', referring to an all-purpose servant with multiple activities or responsibilities (Merriam-Webster, 2023). Hence, Killingsworth and Flynn (2016) pointed out that communication professionals frequently are overwhelmed by their multifaceted work tasks.

The health of communication practitioners in the workplace has been widely discussed in Sweden (Bucht, 2021; Palm, 2023). The non-partisan trade union DIK (Documentation, Information, and Culture) surveyed the working environment for communication professionals, and 71% of respondents rated their overall workload as high or excessive (Bucht, 2019). Due to poor working conditions, senior communication practitioners are considering changing jobs, resulting in a brain drain within the field (Bucht, 2019). Furthermore, in the public sector, one-third of the respondents have occasionally or repeatedly encountered internal pressure to present an overly positive impression of the initiatives or operations of their organisation (Bucht, 2021). Given the high burnout rates and job strain for communication professionals in Sweden, further exploration of the influencing factors on their well-being is required. There are several implications for employees engaging in emotional labour, particularly concerning well-being (Alsakarneh et al., 2019; Diefendorff et al., 2005; Ducharme & Kwan, 2017; Guler et al., 2022; Hochschild, 2012; Rafaeli & Sutton, 1987; Rogers-Shaw et al., 2021). According to Merriam-Webster (2023), well-being refers to the state of being happy, healthy, and thriving. Furthermore, several authors (e.g., Becker & Cropanzano, 2011; Hülsheger & Schewe, 2011; Jeung et al., 2018) argued that organisations should strive to understand the causes, characteristics, and consequences of human emotions, how this influences their behaviour and help employees manage their emotions healthily and sustainably.

# **Aim and Research Questions**

The purpose of this thesis is to further explore the concept of emotional labour in an internal communication context for communication professionals. The aim of this thesis is

to gain insight into the perspectives of communication professionals in Sweden and to establish an understanding of their subjective emotional experiences in the ever-changing field of communication. The objective of this thesis is to obtain an in-depth knowledge of their emotional labour experiences in an internal communication context, the most often utilised strategies, and the implications for their well-being. To collect data for this single case study and be able to answer the research questions, 20 semi-structured in-depth interviews with communication professionals from three distinct occupational sectors were carried out. Furthermore, the Job Demands-Resources (JD-R) theory was applied in combination with the concept of emotional labour. This study addresses the following research questions:

RQ1: Which workplace situations cause communication professionals to engage in emotional labour in an internal communication context?

RQ2: What are the consequences of using different emotional labour strategies for communication professionals?

# **Thesis Outline**

This introductory chapter provided an overview of the research topic and highlighted the relevant research background of this study. The research problem was then explored by describing the challenges and consequences that communication professionals encounter in their work. Furthermore, the purpose, aim, objective, and research questions were established to explain how this study intends to fill the research gap. The literature review

chapter includes a summary of the most recent and significant literature on the topic and the theoretical framework. The methodology chapter describes the research design, sampling criteria, data collection and data analysis method, the quality criteria and ethical considerations addressed in this study. The discussion chapter presents the findings with the current state of knowledge. Finally, the conclusion chapter summarises the main findings, the implications and limitations of the current study, and provides suggestions for future research.

#### **Literature Review**

Emotional labour is prevalent in the occupational sector and impacts employees in several ways; as a result, it has gained considerable attention in the organisational communication field (Hochschild, 1983). Recently, there has been substantial deliberation about the challenges for communication professionals in Sweden. Therefore, this literature review aims to summarise previous research on emotional labour, the different emotional labour strategies, and their associated implications. In addition, internal communication and emotional labour in this context, the communication profession, and the JD-R theory.

Finally, the literature review concludes with a summary of the previous chapters.

#### **Emotional Labour**

Emotional labour is defined by Hochschild (1983) as "the management of feeling to create a publicly observable facial and bodily display; emotional labour is sold for a wage and therefore has exchange value" (p. 7). Whereas physical labour uses employees' strength or body movements to achieve organisational goals, emotional labour uses employees' expressions and emotions (Grandey & Melloy, 2017). Hochschild (1983) differentiates between the private and public realms and highlights three related concepts: 'emotional labour', 'emotion management', and 'emotion work'. The author proposes that emotional labour occurs in an occupational context, whereas the other two emerge in a broader social context. According to Hochschild (2012), the middle classes are traditionally socially conditioned for jobs that require emotional labour, at least in Anglo and Northern European cultures. Some authors argue that Hochschild's (2012) notion of emotional labour is influenced by other theories, such as social psychologist Leon Festinger's ideas about

cognitive dissonance (Sommerfeldt & Kent, 2020), Goffman's impression management (Fuoli & Bednarek, 2022), Marx's wage-labour concept and alienation theory (Brook, 2009), and Freud's proposal of emotion as a signal function (Yeomans, 2019). Hochschild (1983) suggested that emotional labour is a type of workplace oppression and aimed to understand how humans become a labour instrument in modern capitalist societies shaped by the expansion of the service sector.

The occupations that involve emotional labour must meet at least one of the following criteria: (1) they necessitate face-to-face or voice-to-voice interaction with the public; (2) they demand the employee to instil an emotional state in themselves or others and (3) they enable the employer to exert some control over the emotional state of their employees through training and supervision (Hochschild, 2012). The emotional labour process involves actively managing, displaying, or suppressing emotions, as well as genuinely experiencing and expressing appropriate emotions to meet the emotional expectations and demands of a specific occupation (Becker & Cropanzano, 2011; Grandey et al., 2013). Because previous research has not always defined emotions consistently, Becker and Cropanzano (2011) argue that understanding emotion is essential before understanding the associated labour. Castells (2009) claim that emotions are deeply embedded in our brains by the evolutionary drive to survive. Mann (1999) describes the concept of emotion as "a cognitive process, an experiential feeling, a physiological change, and a behavioural aspect" (p. 353). Sommerfeldt and Kent (2020) contend that emotional labour is an internal activity performed externally, requiring employees to suppress their private feelings to exhibit more desirable and socially acceptable workplace emotions, for example, maintaining a positive demeanour. They explain that even acting neutrally, i.e., not responding positively or negatively, is considered difficult emotional labour because the employee must conceal their true feelings. Moreover,

Benesch (2017) describes emotional labour as the struggle between workplace feeling rules and internal beliefs about appropriate workplace behaviour.

The organisational rules that govern what constitutes appropriate emotional expressions in the workplace have been conceptualised in various ways. For example, feeling rules (Hochschild, 1983), display rules (Becker & Cropanzano, 2011), or emotional expression display rules (Sommerfeldt & Kent, 2020). Kim and Williams (2022) explain that emotions are negotiated, performed, and interactively used among all organisational members and are formed and managed to meet specific work demands. Historically, in Western cultures, organisations regarded certain emotional displays in the workplace as inappropriate and therefore attempted to impose a level of control (Bolton, 2005; Glikson & Erez, 2013; Hochschild, 2012; Kim & Williams, 2022; Yeomans, 2019). Benesch (2017) claims that there is a binary belief that there are positive and negative emotions, which causes certain emotions to be supported while others are diminished in the context. The author explains that emotions converge and shift within and across social contexts. Finally, Benesch (2017) asserts that, while not always explicitly stated, feeling rules can be inferred from institutional policies and guidelines implying the desired workplace behaviour.

# **Emotional Labour Strategies**

Several authors argue that compliance with feeling rules could result in emotional dissonance; when there is a discrepancy between private feelings and public display (Grandey et al., 2013; Hochschild, 2012; Rafaeli & Sutton, 1987). To deal with the contradiction between experienced emotions and those required, the employee will use different emotional labour strategies, including surface acting (disguising feelings or

displaying a fake emotion) and deep acting (altering emotions). Other scholars have proposed a third dimension (Diefendorff et al., 2005; Grandey et al., 2013; Guler et al., 2022), namely, natural emotional labour or genuine emotions (exhibiting actual emotions in a socially acceptable manner). For clarification, surface acting concerns changing the outward expression of emotions to conform to the feeling rules without necessarily changing the inner emotional state, thereby suppressing or faking emotions (Hochschild, 2012). Employees in the service sector frequently employ this strategy due to the expectation of maintaining a positive and friendly demeanour even when frustrated or stressed (Grandey et al., 2013). However, deep acting is the deliberate manipulation of internal emotions to align them with the desired emotional expression, thereby altering the inner emotional state (Hochschild, 2012).

Since surface acting requires more effort than other emotional labour forms, it is frequently associated with negative outcomes, such as emotional exhaustion and burnout (Alsakarneh et al., 2019; Grandey et al., 2013; Guler et al., 2022). Deep acting has been connected to more positive outcomes, such as job satisfaction, organisational commitment, and lower levels of emotional exhaustion (Humphrey et al., 2015; Hülsheger & Schewe, 2011). However, compared to genuine emotions, surface acting and deep acting are less effective (Ducharme & Kwan, 2017). Because genuine emotions allow employees to express their actual emotions in a socially acceptable manner, this strategy often results in positive outcomes for both individuals and organisations. Therefore, it is regarded as the most promising approach because it requires minimal mental effort (Grandey et al., 2013; Guler et al., 2022).

# **Emotional Labour Implications**

There are various implications of performing emotional labour for employee well-being. The positive outcomes are related to job satisfaction, personal accomplishment, and organisational commitment (Hülsheger & Schewe, 2011; Üzümcü et al., 2017). However, if emotional labour is not appropriately recognised, it can be mentally and emotionally draining, leading to negative outcomes, such as burnout, emotional exhaustion, stress, job dissatisfaction and turnover intentions (Grandey, 2000; Grandey et al., 2013; Maslach & Jackson, 1984; Valeras, 2020). Furthermore, Rafaeli and Sutton (1987) explain that individuals are assumed to experience both outcomes since estimating the general effects of using different emotional labour strategies for an individual is complex due to personality differences. Additionally, job characteristics such as the frequency and variety of emotional labour will have an impact (Diefendorff et al., 2005).

Through researching flight attendants, Hochschild (1983) discovered that emotional labour could result in self-alienation. Grandey et al. (2013) highlight that emotional labour could induce emotional exhaustion and burnout because of high emotional demands at work. Similarly, Rogers-Shaw et al. (2021) argue that the likelihood of burnout and emotional tiredness at work could increase by using emotional labour. The characteristics of burnout are feelings of cynicism, detachment, and a diminished sense of personal accomplishment resulting from prolonged exposure to a stressful work environment (Bakker et al., 2023; Maslach & Jackson, 1984; Valeras, 2020). Other symptoms of burnout are physical symptoms such as fatigue, headaches, and digestive problems (Hwang & Chi, 2010). Jeung et al. (2018) argue that workplace stress causes negative physiological, psychological,

and behavioural responses in employees and contend that emotional labour can occur in occupations other than the service sector.

Since workplace issues like stress and burnout are complex, they go beyond personal maladjustment. According to Bolton (2005), the political, social, and economic aspects that provide the social framework for workplace relationships must also be considered.

Alsakarneh et al. (2019) argue that employees who perform emotional labour are more likely to be dissatisfied with their jobs than those who do not. Glikson and Erez (2013) explain that norms severely restricting employees' ability to express their emotions towards patients and customers have resulted in emotional exhaustion and job dissatisfaction.

Furthermore, Yeomans (2019) discovered that the Public Relations industry has a 25% annual staff turnover, with employees preferring to leave high-pressured workplaces rather than discuss the issues of coping with the stress of unrealistic expectations and deadlines.

#### **Internal Communication**

There are three types of communication in organisations that Apolo et al. (2017) identified: institutional communication, internal communication, and marketing communication. The authors argue that communication is one of the pillars of collaborative work, supported by the formation of bonds, emotions, and experiences. Heide and Simonsson (2011) contend that information and communication technologies could enable lateral organisational communication. Furthermore, several scholars argue that internal communication is critical for achieving organisational goals (Apolo et al., 2017; Rasmussen, 2022; Yeomans & FitzPatrick, 2017; Zerfass & Viertmann, 2017). Yeomans and FitzPatrick (2017) define internal communication as a managed communication system in which

employees are viewed as an internal public or stakeholder group. This communication system could contain newsletters, noticeboards, staff briefings, and intranets. From this vantage point, employees directly impact organisational performance and indirectly impact relationships with various external stakeholders (Lee & Kim, 2022).

For internal communication efforts to be successful, Yeomans and FitzPatrick (2017) emphasise the importance of clear and consistent messaging, employee involvement, and feedback mechanisms. Additionally, Welch and Jackson (2007) argue that a communication strategy aligned with the mission and values of the organisation, entailing communication with all internal stakeholders through multiple channels, will cultivate a culture of transparency and trust. Hume and Leonard (2014) explain that the purpose of internal communication serves to facilitate processes and foster an environment of open communication and collaboration within the organisation rather than to gather and distribute information. Similarly, Walden (2021) argues that organisations should develop a transparent and compassionate internal communication culture in the workplace by cultivating employee well-being, which could be enhanced by allowing employees to express concerns and make suggestions through various internal communication channels. Through such implementations, organisations could improve job satisfaction and productivity while lowering the risk of stress and burnout. Furthermore, Walden (2021) emphasises the significance of management and leadership in creating a workplace environment that prioritises employee welfare. Similarly, Lee and Kim (2022) claim that leadership influences symmetrical internal communication and employee behavioural outcomes.

#### **Emotional Labour in Internal Communication**

Most emotional labour research has focused on interactions between employees and external stakeholders such as patients, customers, and clients (Grandey, 2003; Hülsheger & Schewe, 2011; Yeomans, 2019). However, non-service sector employees frequently interact with internal company members such as managers and co-workers (Grandey et al., 2007; Hu & Shi, 2015; Lee & Madera, 2019; Lyndon et al., 2021). Some studies have investigated the concept of emotional labour in an internal communication context. Hu and Shi (2015) examined surface acting as a strategy in interactions among organisational members and discovered that faking positive emotions negatively impacts emotional, relational, and behavioural outcomes, as well as employee psychological well-being. Lee and Madera (2019) investigated emotional labour in co-worker-to-co-worker communication and found that co-workers frequently engage in emotional labour to suppress negative emotions and express positive ones, which aids in the maintenance of positive co-worker relationships. Li and Liu (2021) explored emotional labour for virtual teams and discovered that it impacts employee well-being and job satisfaction. The authors argue that clear communication, transparency, and providing employees with the right tools to manage emotional labour in virtual workplaces are essential for good internal communication. Pultz and Dupret (2022) investigated emotional labour resulting from using digital communication technologies among employees in agile IT consultancy firms and found that it affects employee wellbeing. McCance et al. (2013) discovered that social sharing among co-workers might mitigate the negative effects of emotional labour during customer interactions. Becker and Cropanzano (2011) found that emotional labour can become a shared experience for work teams, beginning when employees collectively exhibit positive emotions and avoid negative

ones. Furthermore, Ndubuisi Eze (2017) discovered that displaying positive or negative emotions affects communication simplicity and overall team performance.

Other studies have examined various outcomes of emotional labour in both external and internal communication (Afsar et al., 2017; Delgado et al., 2022; Heim, 2020). Afsar et al. (2017) investigated emotional dissonance, emotional intelligence, job stress, burnout, and the well-being of nurses and found that emotional intelligence training could improve employees' abilities to interact effectively and mitigate the negative outcomes of emotional dissonance. Delgado et al. (2022) examined the effects of emotional labour and daily interpersonal challenges for mental health nurses in interactions with patients and carers, revealing that organisational stressors could heighten relational work challenges and negatively impact well-being. Heim (2020) explored emotional labour for hotel service employees and discovered that emotional labour could function as a tool for creating better work- and service environments through social interaction. Üzümcü et al. (2017) investigated the effects of internal marketing activities on the emotional labour behaviours of employees in the tourism industry and found a relationship between internal marketing practices and surface and deep acting, leading to increased job satisfaction and organisational commitment. Furthermore, Üzümcü et al. (2017) stress the importance of considering emotional labour in internal communication and advocate for open communication, coaching, and inclusive workplace culture to mitigate any negative effects on employees.

#### The Communication Profession

The communication profession in Sweden has evolved in tandem with ideological and political-economic shifts, in which the distinctions between information initiatives in the public and private sectors have become increasingly blurred and impacted by a service perspective (Palm & Sandström, 2013). The development of the communication profession has led to its association with terms such as corporate communication, public relations, communication management, and strategic communication (Simonsson & Heide, 2021). Furthermore, to support their organisations properly, communication professionals must understand daily organisational life and communication processes among co-workers (Heide & Simonsson, 2011). The authors identified five challenges for communication professionals to improve internal communication within organisations. These challenges include metacommunications (communications about communication), communication development (holistically analysing, supporting, and developing all communication processes and actors in the organisation), communication conditions (encouraging a positive and open communication climate to enforce co-worker relationships), communication training (implement constructive feedback, dialogue, target group analysis, rhetoric skills, crosscultural meetings) and continuous evaluations (to survey co-worker attitudes about the organisation).

The number of communication practitioners in Sweden has rapidly grown in recent years, particularly in the public sector (Simonsson & Heide, 2021). As a result, there has been a debate in the Swedish public media about the value of their work (Danieli, 2020; Halltoft & Bertilsson, 2020). The growing number of communication professionals has been portrayed as a waste of taxpayer money. Furthermore, critics have argued that limited

public resources should be used to develop teaching, elderly care, nursing, and infrastructure rather than fostering a positive perception of it. Simonsson and Heide (2021) argue that while making communication a management function may increase status and professionalism, it may also create pressure to prioritise managerial logic over the value of communication itself. However, this could weaken the professionalisation of communication practitioners, as communication becomes viewed solely as a support function for other organisational activities.

Several authors have highlighted the role of the communication practitioner in organisations, and it frequently is distinguished by a broad job description that includes multiple areas of responsibility (Fyke et al., 2022; Killingsworth & Flynn, 2016; Zerfass & Viertmann, 2017). For instance, their work duties might entail business acumen, written, verbal, and visual communication, working both strategically and operationally, being culturally sensitive, conducting evaluative research, and striving to understand the holistic picture, as well as providing excellent service (Killingsworth & Flynn, 2016). Furthermore, the communication profession has been influenced by digitalisation, which has resulted in the emergence of new work areas such as social media and digital marketing. Lindberg (2019) contends that technological advancements have made independence, cooperative skills, and a desire to succeed critical qualities for communication practitioners. Moreover, there is research that the role of communication professionals is perceived as somewhat ambiguous, which could be explained by the relatively young age of the profession and that the communication work might not be well-established in every organisation (Palm & Sandström, 2013). Falkheimer et al. (2017) discovered that managers and co-workers consider communication vital for their organisations on a strategic level. Although the author identified that communication professionals' work contributes to effective internal

and external communication, other organisational members misunderstood their core roles. Furthermore, while most managers valued communication, communication professionals were perceived as channel producers or technicians. Similarly, Halltoft and Bertilsson (2020) found that the role of the communication practitioner frequently is misunderstood and that communication professionals encounter several challenges in their work, such as managing expectations from others in the organisation who do not understand their roles or the overall importance of communication.

# **Job Demands-Resources Theory**

Several studies have combined the Job Demands-Resources (JD-R) theory with the emotional labour concept (Kim & Wang, 2018; Lee & Madera, 2019; Wojcik et al., 2022). The JD-R model was first introduced in the early 2000s and evolved into a theory by the mid-2010s (Bakker & Demerouti, 2017). Although the model was initially used to explain burnout, it now incorporates various aspects of employee well-being and organisational functioning. The JD-R model is a theoretical framework based on the assumption that all job characteristics can be classified as a job demand or resource. This model defines job demands as aspects of the job that necessitate consistent physical, mental, or emotional effort, such as high work pressure, interpersonal conflict, or emotionally demanding interactions, which are associated with physical and mental costs, such as stress and burnout (Bakker & Demerouti, 2007, 2017; Bakker et al., 2014, 2023). The model defines job resources as aspects of the job that enable employees to achieve work objectives, reduce job demands and associated costs, and promote growth and development, which are

associated with social support, autonomy, feedback, and learning opportunities (Bakker & Demerouti, 2007; 2017; Bakker et al., 2014).

Although multiple job resources are available, working under stressful conditions is exhausting in the long run. Bakker and Demerouti (2017) explain that job demands can be classified as either hindrance (e.g., role conflict, role overload, and role ambiguity) or challenge (e.g., high workload, time pressure, and responsibility). The latter could, however, promote personal growth and achievement for the employee. Furthermore, JD-R research has consistently demonstrated that employees perform best in work environments that combine challenging job demands with job resources because such environments facilitate their work engagement. Bakker and Demerouti (2017) argue that personal demands (e.g., workaholism or perfectionism) could have similar outcomes as job demands. Likewise, personal resources (e.g., optimism and self-efficacy) could serve a similar purpose as job resources. The authors contend that job demands and resources initiate two distinct processes, i.e., a health-impairment process and a motivational process. However, access to adequate resources might help to mitigate the relationship between job demands and burnout. Furthermore, the direct relationship between job demands and resources could be influenced by factors such as the occupational sector, level of education, hierarchical level, and occupational status (Bakker et al., 2014; 2023; Bakker & Demerouti, 2017).

JD-R theory has been combined with self-regulation perspectives to demonstrate how job strain translates into burnout. Bakker and De Vries (2021) argue that when employees encounter high job strain, they are more likely to use maladaptive self-regulation strategies, such as avoidance or emotion-focused coping (the regulation of emotional responses to the situation) and self-undermining behaviours (poor communication, mindless errors, and interpersonal disagreements resulting in higher job demands). They are less likely to use

adaptive self-regulation strategies, such as recovery (leisure activities that divert them from work-related issues) or job crafting (proactively optimise the work environment by modifying the job demands and resources). Bakker and De Vries (2021) emphasise the importance of organisations monitoring and improving job characteristics to prevent burnout (e.g., by establishing realistic objectives and challenges, optimising job demands, and delivering adequate job resources). Bakker et al. (2023) explain that although employees react differently to different job demands, exposure to higher job demands usually generates occupational burnout.

The JD-R theory is a flexible and heuristic model (Bakker & Demerouti, 2017).

However, the flexibility of the model has received criticism for lacking specificity (Schaufeli & Taris, 2014). Bakker and Demerouti (2017) explain that the model might complicate whether a specific job characteristic represents a demand or a resource or whether an outcome is health-related or motivational. However, this depends on the work context.

Schaufeli and Taris (2014) argue that while the model is an appropriate framework for understanding the complex relationship between job demands, resources, and employee outcomes, its simplicity oversimplifies the relationship between various job demands and resources. The authors emphasise the importance of contextual factors such as culture and individual differences in understanding how job demands and resources affect employee outcomes. They propose that future research address its limitations and investigate its applicability in various contexts. Furthermore, to achieve optimal results, both job demands and resources should be addressed (Schaufeli & Taris, 2014).

The integration of emotional labour in the JD-R model could explain how surface acting as a job demand and deep acting as a job resource might cause stress in distinct ways.

Lee and Madera (2019 argue that surface acting is a job demand associated with an

emotional cost that is demanding and depleting, related to increased stress. However, deep acting can be viewed as a job resource because deep acting interactions are generally rated more positively than surface acting interactions, which are associated with a higher level of cognitive dissonance. Furthermore, Humphrey et al. (2015) explain that the expectation to express positive emotions and the effort necessary to achieve them are not intrinsically detrimental. The regulation strategies employed to pursue them and the conditions under which emotional labour occurs have a more significant influence. Finally, Wojcik et al. (2022) argue that job demands, such as interpersonal workplace conflict and organisational constraints, could increase burnout directly and indirectly via surface acting. However, job resources, such as organisational support, could decrease burnout directly and indirectly by reducing surface acting.

### **Summary**

The concept of emotional labour has received significant attention in the organisational communication field and continues to spark an interest among scholars (Benesch, 2017; Bolton, 2005; Hochschild, 2012; Levine Brown et al., 2022; Sommerfeldt & Kent, 2020). The feeling rules that suggest appropriate workplace behaviour allow organisations to control the emotional expressions of employees (Becker & Cropanzano, 2011; Yeomans, 2019). By conforming to these rules, employees will use various emotional labour strategies, including surface acting, deep acting, and genuine emotions, which relate to different outcomes on well-being. Research demonstrates that surface acting is frequently associated with burnout, emotional exhaustion, job dissatisfaction and turnover intentions (Grandey, 2000; Grandey et al., 2013; Maslach & Jackson, 1984; Valeras, 2020),

whereas deep acting is connected to job satisfaction, organisational commitment and decreased emotional exhaustion (Humphrey et al., 2015; Hülsheger & Schewe, 2011). However, genuine emotions is considered the most effective emotional labour strategy for employee well-being since it requires minimal mental effort (Grandey et al., 2013; Guler et al., 2022).

Research on emotional labour has primarily focused on frontline workers in service and health occupations or external communication contexts (Bridgen, 2011; Halltoft & Bertilsson; Yeomans, 2019), with limited research on emotional labour in an internal communication context. This context is critical to investigate because, unlike customerfacing jobs, communication professionals in an internal communication context interact on a much larger scale with managers and co-workers (Heide, 2017). Therefore, the current study will investigate emotional labour in a relatively recent albeit relevant context.

Furthermore, to fill this research gap, this thesis will investigate the concept of emotional labour in an internal communication context with the JD-R theory. This is accomplished through an in-depth examination of communication professionals' personal experiences and perspectives, which workplace situations contribute to their use of emotional labour, and the consequences for their well-being.

#### Method

In this chapter, the research design, sampling method, participant recruitment, and data collection process based on semi-structured in-depth interviews are presented.

Furthermore, the data analysis procedure is addressed, including the six-step process for thematic analysis by Braun and Clarke (2006), as well as the quality criteria and ethical considerations of this study.

# **Research Design**

This study, like Hochschild's (1983), used a qualitative approach by conducting interviews with employees. Other quantitative studies have typically measured emotional labour levels using self-rating scales, yielding more generalisable results (Diefendorff et al., 2005; Guler et al., 2022). Through in-depth insight and comprehension, qualitative research seeks to understand phenomena in context-specific settings (Golafshani, 2003). Since the purpose of this study was to obtain first-hand knowledge and explore the perspectives and experiences of participants regarding emotional labour in an internal communication context, the researchers used a qualitative approach to effectively capture the insights, nuances, and complexities of participants. Furthermore, one of the benefits of using a qualitative research design is its flexibility (Taylor et al., 2015). Recent studies have used a qualitative research design to examine the concept of emotional labour (Kelly et al., 2021; Lyndon et al., 2021; Monrad, 2017; Rogers-Shaw et al., 2021). Hence, it has been demonstrated that the concept of emotional labour could be investigated using this approach.

This study used an interpretivist approach to understand communication professionals through their frames of reference and experience of reality. This perspective seeks understanding through qualitative methods such as in-depth interviews, which generate descriptive data (Adedeji et al., 2022; Taylor et al., 2015). Furthermore, this study used a combination of inductive and deductive reasoning. The inductive approach develops theory and generates perspectives based on empirical data, whereas the deductive approach examines data based on the theoretical framework (Eisenhardt & Graebner, 2007). The inductive approach is malleable and allows researchers to revise their ideas as new data becomes available (Allen, 2017; Taylor et al., 2015). Because the concept of emotional labour for communication professionals in an internal communication context is an underresearched topic, the researchers were able to maintain some flexibility and investigate unexpected paths that arose during data collection. Furthermore, the deductive approach frequently draws from more optimistic epistemologies that refer to data as pre-existing or ready-made evidence in external reality (Swain, 2018). Hence, by using this approach, the researchers could also gather data while following the established theoretical framework of the emotional labour concept and JD-R theory.

Scholars have argued that case studies highlight the real-world context in which phenomena occur by examining, for example, a group of people in a rich, detailed, and varied way (Denzin & Lincoln, 2011; Eisenhardt & Graebner, 2007; Heale & Twycross, 2018; Meyer, 2001; Yin, 2013). The case study method is well suited for investigating novel or understudied processes and behaviours (Meyer, 2001). Because the well-being of communication professionals in Sweden has recently received attention in the grey literature (Bucht, 2021; Palm, 2023), and the researchers were interested in investigating the concept of emotional labour in an internal communication context, this professional

group was chosen for this single case study. To determine what was previously known and to be able to conduct an in-depth investigation, the researchers reviewed relevant literature to establish a basic understanding of the case. Furthermore, to the best of their knowledge, the researchers could investigate previously unexplored theoretical connections, especially given that emotional labour has been examined primarily in commercial and external communication contexts in the service and health sectors.

# **Sampling Method**

The recruitment of participants for this study was driven by a purposive sampling method. Purposive sampling refers to the deliberate selection of participants based on their characteristics (Acharya et al., 2013; Etikan et al., 2016). This allowed the researchers to identify and select information-rich cases to achieve the most optimal use of available resources. The sampling criteria included communication professionals aged 24 to 65 in Sweden who had worked in the field for at least a year. In Sweden, entry requirements for the communication profession are relatively high, typically requiring a university degree in media and communication or equivalent (Lindberg, 2019). Therefore, as part of the sampling criteria for this study, a minimum age of 24 years was chosen. Furthermore, the sample included communication professionals of various genders, job titles, sectors, and years of experience. Ten participants from the public sector, six from the corporate sector, and four from non-governmental organisations were interviewed one-on-one. This allowed the researchers to concentrate on the similarities and differences within the case and examine their experiences from various perspectives.

In addition to purposive sampling, convenience and snowball sampling were used to find participants. When researchers recruit participants who are easily accessible to them, this is referred to as convenience sampling (Acharya et al., 2013; Etikan et al., 2016). These participants were recruited by contacting acquaintances who worked in the communication field and through announcements on LinkedIn. When researchers rely on participant referrals to recruit new participants, this is referred to as snowball sampling (Etikan et al., 2016; Parker et al., 2019). Those who were interested contacted the researchers directly, offering to participate in the study and share their experiences.

#### **Data Collection**

This study employed semi-structured in-depth interviews with communication professionals to collect data, which is a common data collection method in qualitative research (Chirban, 1996; Dicicco-Bloom & Crabtree, 2006; Warren & Karner, 2004). Taylor et al. (2015) argue that in-depth interviews are appropriate when the research interests are relatively well-defined, the researcher has time constraints, and the researcher desires an understanding of a diverse range of people. Furthermore, while participant observation might have provided a more comprehensive understanding of the case, it was neither practical nor feasible for this study. Bryman (2012) argued that interviewing is preferred in qualitative research for the flexibility of the researcher. This technique remains open to participant interpretation and regards more specific issues and topics. Therefore, due to time and access constraints, this study relied solely on interviews to collect data, which provided the researchers with a rich dataset.

The researchers developed the interview questions from the research questions without asking them directly, following the recommendations of Bryman (2012). The semi-structured interviews included a list of questions to cover the key topics with each participant (see Interview Guide in Appendix 2). They started with a set of questions to help elicit conversation and guide the interview to be more closely related to the research questions (Rabionet, 2011; Taylor et al., 2015). Because qualitative research is iterative, preliminary data analysis often coincides with data collection, resulting in changing questions as researchers gain more knowledge (Dicicco-Bloom & Crabtree, 2006). Since researchers have a central function in the qualitative research process and usually produce study-specific questions for their interviews, they become research instruments (Chenail, 2011).

The researchers realised early in the data collection process that some questions were redundant and could be eliminated, while others could be adapted to better fit the conversation, which could have been avoided with a pilot study. Some questions are susceptible to behavioural shifts and interviewer effects. Open-response questions necessitate more active participation by the interviewer, and thus there is more opportunity for influence (Mangione et al., 1992). At the same time, this allows the interviewee more freedom to share their unique perspectives and provide detailed and nuanced responses (Allen, 2017; Chenail, 2011). Researchers can reduce interviewer effects by designing questions requiring less probing to produce a usable answer since this would allow them to be inconsistent across interviews (Mangione et al., 1992). To reduce interviewer effects in this sense, the researchers attempted to limit their probing and allow the participants to respond more freely. The researchers conducted 20 interviews, encompassing approximately 14 hours, with an average of 45 minutes per interview, and data saturation

was achieved by the 18th interview. Table 1 shows the distribution of participants, including pseudonyms, age, gender pronouns, job titles and years in the industry.

**Table 1**Descriptors of Participants

Pseudonyms	Age	Gender Pronouns	Job Title	Years in the Industry
Alice	25	She/her	Digital Marketing Coordinator	+1 year
Benjamin	34	He/him	Communications Coordinator	9 years
Carl	42	He/him	Communication Manager	12 years
Diana	24	She/her	Marketing Manager	+1 year
Esther	28	She/her	Marketing Activation Specialist	6 years
Freya	25	She/her	Communication Professional	1 year
Gabrielle	49	She/her	Communication Professional	8 years
Harald	47	He/him	Communication Professional	7 years
Isa	45	She/her	Communication Professional	16 years
Juliette	29	She/her	Head of Communications	7 years
Katherine	56	She/her	Communication Professional	11 years
Leia	55	She/her	Communication Professional	30 years
Mia	54	She/her	Communication Professional	15 years
Naomi	25	She/her	Communication Professional	+1 year
Olivia	56	She/her	Communication Professional	30 years
Priscilla	54	She/her	Project Communicator	15 years
Ramona	49	She/her	Public Relations Communicator	12 years
Tim	30	He/him	Communication Professional	4 years
Veronica	45	She/her	Communication Professional	18 years
Sonja	51	She/her	Communications Editor	16 years

The data were collected using video and conference technology, also known as Voice over Internet Protocol (VoIP)-mediated technologies, between March 22nd and April 11th, 2023. VoIP-mediated technologies are well-suited for qualitative data collection due to their availability, data management features, and security options (Archibald et al., 2019). Hence, interviewees could select their interview location, suggesting that this was a pleasant environment where they would feel comfortable. Despite the benefits of convenience and interactivity, poor audio or video quality is a common issue with VoIP-mediated technologies. This happened during some of the interviews, but it had no impact on the overall outcome because the researchers were able to repeat any questions that were difficult to interpret at the time. Furthermore, the audio recordings were made with Windows Voice Recorder and Voice Memos on iPhone, allowing the researchers to transcribe the interviews.

After the interviews were completed, the researchers began transcription, which required careful data observation and repeated and thorough listening of the recordings. The Intelligent Verbatim technique was used, and the transcripts were reviewed and corrected for accuracy against the recordings (Braun & Clarke, 2006; Powers, 2005; Widodo, 2014). The transcripts were also edited for readability, such as where to place commas and periods, and any identity markers were removed. The transcription process is critical in data analysis and central to qualitative research (Mero-Jaffe, 2011; Widodo, 2014). Some factors could influence transcription quality and even the overall research project. Because transcription cannot precisely convey everything said, the researchers had to confirm that the transcript accurately represented the content of the original recording rather than how it affected the research questions and overall findings. Mero-Jaffe (2011) identified five

factors that could impact the quality of a transcript: the researcher, the interviewer, the transcriber, the interviewee, and the transcription equipment and location.

### **Data Analysis**

This study used a realist theoretical position of thematic analysis since it focused on the experiences, meanings, and realities of communication professionals. Because theme development necessitated interpretive work that extended beyond articulations in the data and included broader understandings and theoretically underpinned meanings, this study used thematic analysis at the latent level (Taylor et al., 2015). To analyse the data, the researchers followed the six-step process for thematic analysis by Braun and Clarke (2006), who defined this as a process for discovering, assessing, and reporting patterns in the data. Thematic analysis consists of (1) familiarisation with data, (2) generation of initial codes, (3) searching for themes, (4) reviewing themes, (5) defining and naming themes, and (6) report production (Braun & Clarke, 2006).

In the first step, the researchers immersed themselves in the data by reading the transcripts and becoming familiar with the entire data set. After inserting the transcripts into NVivo, the search for meanings and patterns began. In the second step, the researchers created initial codes and organised the data from the transcripts into meaningful categories. The data coding process was accomplished through a hybrid approach that combined two opposing philosophical methods of reasoning: a bottom-up, inductive, data-driven one and a top-down, deductive, theoretical one (Braun & Clarke, 2006). This approach has been used by several researchers (Fereday & Muir-Cochrane, 2006; Swain, 2018; Xu & Zammit, 2020). Thus, the interpretive approach was supported by codes that were driven by both

participant data and the theoretical framework of this study. Through this method, the researchers could generate a set of pre-empirical codes derived from the theoretical framework using deductive logic and post-empirical codes generated from new perspectives in the data using inductive logic (Swain, 2018).

In the third step, the codes were collated, which resulted in the development of overarching themes, while other codes were either discarded because they were nonessential to the research topic or grouped under a miscellaneous code. In the fourth step, the researchers refined the prospect themes to ensure that the data cohered meaningfully, with clear and identifiable divisions between them. This phase involved rereading the entire data set for coherency and accuracy. Additionally, any other data missing from earlier stages were coded.

In the fifth step, the researchers named their themes and had a sufficient thematic map of their data. They then reviewed and described the meaning of each theme and the aspects of the data they represented. The authors wrote a detailed analysis of each theme related to the research questions. In the sixth step, the researchers presented the final themes as part of the findings of this study and included interview extracts to support and illustrate the data interpretations. After data reduction, the thematic analysis write-up included selected data extracts and accounted for a data report to answer the research questions (Braun & Clarke, 2006; Thomas, 2006). Table 2 shows the final themes, the codes and descriptions of the codes that comprise the themes, as well as which codes are deductive, and which are inductive.

**Table 2**Coding Scheme

Theme	Code	Description of the Codes	Deductive/Inductive
Expectations of Communication Professionals	Communication Profession Requirements	The requirements that communication professionals face in their daily work	Deductive
	Professionalism	What communication professionals consider to be professional	Inductive
	Everyday Work Tasks	Work tasks performed on a daily basis	Deductive
Emotional Labour in the Communication Profession	Emotional Labour at the Workplace	The workplace situations that evoke emotional labour	Deductive
	Feeling Rules	The guidelines that govern appropriate workplace behaviour	Deductive
	Highly Sensitive Person	A personality trait that makes individuals more sensitive to various impressions	Inductive
	Emotional Labour Strategies	The different emotional labour strategies used by communication professionals	Deductive
Surface Acting in Internal Communication	Unstructured Internal Communication	When internal communication is ad hoc and work tasks turn up on short notice	Inductive
	Dissatisfaction with feedback	A lack of feedback and when delivered in the wrong context	Deductive
	Non-transparent Workplace Culture	When internal workplace communication is non-transparent and strict	Deductive
	Job Hindrances	Work overload and perceived role ambiguity from other members of the organisation	Deductive
Genuine Emotions in Internal Communication	Structured Internal Communication	When internal communication is well-structured and work tasks are well-planned	Inductive
	Satisfaction with feedback	A sufficient amount of constructive feedback delivered in an appropriate context	Deductive
	Transparent Workplace Culture	When internal workplace communication is transparent and permissive	Deductive
	Job Challenges	Sufficient workload and perceived organisational support	Deductive

Impact on Well-Being	Job Demands	Job aspects that impairs the health of communication professionals	Deductive
	Job Resources	Job aspects that promote the health of communication professionals	Deductive
	Personal Demands	The personal demands that communication professionals place on themselves	Deductive
	Job Crafting	Activities that communication professionals engage in to improve their work situation	Deductive
	Surface Acting Before Burnout	Before becoming burnt out, communication professionals use surface acting at a higher level	Deductive
	Genuine Emotions After Recovery	After recovering from burnout, communication professionals use genuine emotions	Inductive
	Years of Experience	The likelihood of experiencing the effects of stress increase with the number of years of experience	Inductive

*Note*. The majority of codes are deductive, based on the theoretical framework of this thesis. However, some codes are inductive, to add nuance to the themes.

## **Quality Criteria**

Scholars propose truth value, consistency, neutrality or confirmability, and applicability or transferability as essential quality criteria in qualitative research (Golafshani, 2003; Meyer, 2001; Noble & Smith, 2015). To ensure truth value, the researchers acknowledged that there is no single correct answer to the research questions because multiple realities exist. They sought to account for researcher biases that may have influenced the findings and presented participant perspectives clearly and accurately. To ensure consistency, the researchers implemented a clear decision trail throughout the analysis process and ensured that data interpretations were consistent and transparent. To maintain neutrality, the researchers remained reflexive as much as possible during the whole research process and incorporated richness by displaying data extracts from participants to support the findings, as well as similarities and differences within data accounts to represent different perspectives. The applicability of the findings is determined

by their transferability to other contexts, settings, or groups. This study supports this by combining three purposive sampling techniques and demonstrating when data saturation was reached. Furthermore, if other researchers replicate this study in the future, they may reach similar or comparable conclusions or produce different findings, because there are various ways to use and create meaning from the data (Noble & Smith, 2015).

### **Ethical Considerations**

In any research, the protection of participants through the application of appropriate ethical principles is critical. Because of the in-depth nature of the research process in qualitative studies, ethical considerations have particular significance (Mohd Arifin, 2018). Some ethical issues must be addressed before investigation to ensure research integrity, respect for human rights, and dignity (European Commission, 2021). Before the interviews, all participants received complete disclosure about the research process and were given an informed consent form (see Appendix 1). Before consent for this study was obtained, all participants were informed that their participation was entirely voluntary, with no pressure or compulsion, and that they could withdraw at any time (European Commission, 2021; Mohd Arifin, 2018). All participants agreed to be recorded during the interviews and were informed that the data would be destroyed once the thesis had been examined and would only be used for this study.

Because confidentiality and anonymity are crucial aspects of social research (European Commission, 2021; Mohd Arifin, 2018; Swedish Research Council, 2002), the General Data Protection Regulation (EU) 2016/679 was followed to ensure participant protection and the ethical aspects of this research (European Commission, 2021). Wiles et al. (2008) defined

research confidentiality as not disclosing information provided by a participant to others and presenting findings in such a way that individuals cannot be identified, primarily through anonymisation. In this study, the anonymity and confidentiality of participants were protected by not disclosing their names or identities during data collection, analysis, and reporting. All participants received pseudonyms, and their workplaces remained unrevealed. Furthermore, after transcription, the interviewees were given the opportunity to read their statements and change anything sensitive.

The researchers had to be aware of their prior assumptions and knowledge and how this could bias the analysis (Bryman, 2012; Mehra, 2002; Taylor et al., 2015). Since they were interested in the well-being of communication professionals and the concept of emotional labour, this could imply that the topic under investigation was personal to the researchers as two future communication practitioners. Hence, researcher reflexivity was especially important in this context. While the researchers could not avoid their worldview entirely, they attempted to remain open to the discoveries that emerged during data collection and analysis. Furthermore, the researchers maintained that the study was an ongoing learning experience, which scholars have argued could assist researchers to set aside their own biases and discuss the knowledge gained from participants (Bryman, 2012; Mehra, 2002; Taylor et al., 2015).

In qualitative research, interviewing acquaintances raises ethical questions because the level of connection between the researchers and participants might introduce bias into the study (Brewis, 2014; Chenail, 2011; Mero-Jaffe, 2011; Quinney et al., 2016). Although these were few compared to the total number of participants, people with whom the researchers already had a relationship could impact behaviours and responses during the interviews. When researchers have the status of insiders, they must be sensitive and

maintain integrity (Quinney et al., 2016). One potential issue of interviewing people familiar to the researchers is that they might assume they already understand their viewpoints, clouding the data analysis procedure (Quinney et al., 2016). Another issue is that participants might want to assist the researchers with the study and thus respond in a way that the researchers want to hear rather than discuss their opinions, which may affect the quality of the interview (Brewis, 2014; Taylor et al., 2015). According to Taylor et al. (2015), novice observers tend to study friends and familiar surroundings. However, avoiding these settings is a recommendation rather than a rule, which allowed the researchers to sample enough participants for their thesis.

### **Discussion**

In this chapter, the researchers will present the themes that emerged from the data analysis and discuss them with the current state of knowledge. Since the purpose of this thesis is to investigate the concept of emotional labour for communication professionals in an internal communication context, three overarching themes and two subthemes appear from this single case study: the first theme is *Expectations of Communication Professionals*, the second is *Emotional Labour in the Communication Profession*, which includes two subthemes: *Surface Acting in Internal Communication* and *Genuine Emotions in Internal Communication*, and the third theme is *Impact on Well-Being*. Finally, this chapter concludes with a presentation of the main findings in response to the research questions.

# **Expectations of Communication Professionals**

The findings reveal that communication professionals regularly encounter high expectations to achieve organisational goals. Many participants explain that they are responsible for content production and design, GDPR compliance, employer branding, business acumen and comprehending new technology. Depending on the size of the organisation and the sector in which participants work, they are responsible for internal communication to varying degrees through newsletters, staff briefings, and intranets. Therefore, in accordance with Yeomans and FitzPatrick (2017), they can be seen as an internal stakeholder group involved in managing the communication system at their workplaces. Many participants explain that they work with communication conditions to enforce co-worker relationships by encouraging a positive and open communication climate. Several participants state that they oversee communication development, which

includes holistically analysing and developing communication processes within the organisation. Some participants express that they are responsible for communication training, implementing constructive feedback and target group analysis. These findings are consistent with some of the challenges that communication professionals face concerning improving internal communication, as identified by Heide and Simonsson (2011), who argue that understanding daily organisational life and communication processes is essential for developing internal communication within an organisation. Furthermore, Apolo et al. (2017) and Yeomans and FitzPatrick (2017) argue that internal communication is critical for achieving organisational goals, which might explain why several participants are expected to undertake an active role in internal communication at their workplaces. The following data extracts demonstrate some of the workplace expectations for communication professionals:

"I suppose it varies quite a bit depending on what role you have and in which organisation

[...] you work. Perhaps it is the challenge that it can be so incredibly broad that it can

demand so much of you. You should be a TikTok expert, but you should also be able to write

long communication plans, lead meetings or be very creative in workshops [...] as well as

having opinions about internal and external communication". (Tim)

"I would say that one needs to be a multi-artist today to work as a communication professional. If one works alone as I do, one has to wear 45 different hats: one is an image expert, one should write good texts, one should know social media, one should ideally be web-savvy within different web production programmes [...] and you must be operational, you must know events, you must try to work strategically internally, you must work with

both internal and external communication, and these are just a few of the things that fall on the communication professional today". (Olivia)

Many participants report that other organisational members repeatedly misunderstand their primary role and workload, which coincides with the difficulty in measuring and evaluating actual results because communication efforts are frequently seen over time rather than immediately after implementation. This makes it difficult to explain the significance of their work, particularly among those who work as communication professionals alone at their workplaces. Is a supports this by explaining that her work is all about values, routines, internal communication, and establishing organisational structures, all of which she finds to be unfortunately quite invisible. This is consistent with Falkheimer et al. (2017), who contend that the view of communication professionals is somewhat ambiguous and that other organisational members perceive them as channel producers or technicians. Furthermore, the position of the communication practitioner has significantly been displaced because of societal developments, according to Palm and Sandström (2013), which might explain the vagueness regarding the communication profession as well as the fact that several participants explain that they frequently are expected to take on additional work responsibilities outside of their job description. Many participants agree that the workload is excessive, and the expectations are unrealistic, which can be overwhelming and demanding. This is compatible with Killingsworth and Flynn (2016), who argue that communication professionals are frequently overwhelmed by their multifaceted work duties.

### **Emotional Labour in the Communication Profession**

The feeling rules manifest differently at the workplaces of participants, with both unwritten rules and sets of guidelines. This is consistent with Benesch (2017), who explains that, while not always explicitly stated, feeling rules can infer from institutional policies that recommend desired workplace behaviour. Many participants report that their workplaces accept all emotions and have an open atmosphere, albeit not all emotional expressions are permitted because they are in a professional environment. Several participants explain that they frequently experience an internal emotion while sometimes publicly displaying something else, indicating that they follow the feeling rules by using different emotional labour strategies. According to Hochschild (2012), adhering to the feeling rules will necessitate employees performing emotional labour. Many participants describe that negative emotions, such as frustration and irritation are allowable if they maintain a respectful attitude towards others and can communicate this constructively. This is consistent with Welch and Jackson (2007) and Walden (2021), who argue that allowing employees to express concerns and make suggestions through various internal communication channels can improve an open and compassionate internal communication culture.

Since acting on anger is unacceptable and exhibiting overjoy is not always appropriate in a professional atmosphere, many participants explain that they maintain a more neutral attitude in the workplace and agree that positive emotions are altogether more welcome. Several participants believe that workplaces should be professional and constructive, which could explain why many participants use surface acting when they are experiencing negative emotions and genuine emotions when they are experiencing positive emotions. This follows

Benesch (2017), who states that certain emotions will be supported, while others will be dampened in the context, indicating the presence of more normative emotions. This is consistent with Li and Liu (2021), who argue that organisations should emphasise the importance of clear communication and transparency and provide employees with the tools they need to manage emotional labour in the workplace.

Some participants argue that the communication profession is a service profession, which entails assisting others with various communication efforts, driving their organisations forward and making others appear in a better light. Hence, they must sometimes set aside their work to assist other organisational members, which necessitates ongoing task and time prioritisation. This requires them to display either a positive or neutral demeanour as part of their employment, which Sommerfeldt and Kent (2020) characterise as emotional labour. This is consistent with the definition of 'factotum', which refers to an all-purpose servant with multiple activities and duties (Merriam-Webster, 2023), as well as the expansion of the service sector (Hochschild, 1983) and the development of the communication profession as a result of ideological and political-economic changes (Palm & Sandström, 2013).

Several participants explain how emotions impact their occupation in various ways.

This is congruent with Kim and Williams (2022), who explains that emotions are negotiated, performed, and interactively utilised by all organisational members and that they are produced and managed to fulfil specific work requirements. Hochschild (2012) argues that occupations involving emotional labour must meet at least one of the following criteria: (1) face-to-face or voice-to-voice interaction with the public; (2) employees instilling an emotional state in themselves or others; and (3) employers are able to exert some control over their employees' emotional states through training and supervision. The first criterion

suggests a focus on an external communication context. However, in an internal communication context, communication professionals interact with other organisational members more frequently than with the general public and external stakeholders. This is similar to what Glikson and Erez (2013) propose and relates to Ndubuisi Eze (2017), who contends that displaying positive or negative emotions has an impact on the simplicity of communication and overall team performance.

The findings show that participants working in larger organisations, whether in the public or corporate sectors, have daily face-to-face or voice-to-voice interactions with coworkers in their department, the management, and employees from other departments. Participants in smaller organisations, whether in the corporate or non-governmental sectors, have face-to-face or voice-to-voice interaction with co-workers and the management at least three days per week. Regardless of their occupational sector, participants agree that they must sometimes instil an emotional state in themselves or others to accomplish organisational objectives. Thus, the findings confirm that the communication profession meets two of Hochschild's (2012) three criteria for occupations involving emotional labour.

# **Surface Acting in Internal Communication**

The first emotional labour strategy that the participants use is surface acting, which refers to disguising feelings or displaying a fake emotion (Grandey et al., 2013; Hochschild, 2012). Many participants employ surface acting to appear more compliant and helpful, such as when they receive insufficient information, are assigned tasks on short notice, or are allocated responsibilities that are not part of their job description. This aligns with

Sommerfeldt and Kent (2020), who argues that emotional labour is an internal activity performed externally that sometimes requires employees to suppress their private feelings to exhibit more desirable and socially acceptable emotions at work. Another reason why several participants use surface acting is to maintain their professional image at work. This includes respecting co-workers, performing, and completing work tasks, assisting others, being responsive and active as well as meticulous and thorough. Few participants employ surface acting to resolve conflicts and settle arguments with other organisational members. This is consistent with Lee and Madera (2019), who argue that co-workers frequently use emotional labour to suppress negative emotions and express positive ones, potentially aiding in the maintenance of positive co-worker relationships.

Many participants experience feelings of anger, frustration, and irritation during interactions with other organisational members who frequently misunderstand their workload and core role, or when they are not recognised for completing a time-consuming and energy-intensive task, forcing them to conceal their internal feelings. This agrees with Üzümcü et al. (2017), who emphasise the importance of considering the emotional labour involved in internal communication and that organisations should strive for open communication and coaching to reduce any impairing effects on employees. Furthermore, some participants explain that they hide feelings of frustration and irritation during internal meetings when they openly receive negative feedback of their work from other organisational members, rather than in a private setting where they would be more comfortable being honest and explaining themselves. Alice supports this by saying that she pushes away her feelings instead of taking the fight, especially when she comes up with a solution to a problem, and others are against that idea. Overall, surface acting is more common among participants who describe their workplace's internal communication as ad

hoc or lacking a proper structure, where they must deal with problems as they arise. Priscilla affirms this by mentioning that she once worked at an organisation where everything was chaotic, and they were continuously overburdened with new tasks, resulting in misunderstandings among employees, in which she could not be honest about her emotions. This internal communication structure was detrimental to her job satisfaction, eventually prompting her resignation, which is consistent with Alsakarneh et al. (2019), who argue that surface acting is related to turnover intentions. Furthermore, few participants argue that emotions affect them differently because they are highly sensitive, causing them to become emotionally overburdened more frequently than their co-workers and necessitate more time for recovery, and thus, use surface acting every day to suppress emotions caused by stress. This corresponds to Rafaeli and Sutton (1987), who explain that evaluating the influence of various emotional labour strategies on an individual is difficult, with both positive and negative outcomes possible. The following quotes demonstrate why communication professionals use surface acting:

"I believe that you can have more emotions than you show at work, that you still hold back, and that it's probably for your own safety that you don't want to show too much, that you're afraid of showing too many emotions, so, of course, you hold back anger maybe. You might be so annoyed at someone who doesn't listen or that you don't get along that you try to swallow it, so it's more likely that you try to hold it in [...]" (Naomi)

"You have to hide a little joy too. You can't keep cheering just because you've managed to publish something. [...] I can say that it is clear that you hold back emotions or frustration or something like that every day basically." (Priscilla)

### **Genuine Emotions in Internal Communication**

The second emotional labour strategy that the participants use is genuine emotions, which refers to exhibiting actual emotions in a socially acceptable manner (Guler et al., 2022). Some participants report being calculating and strategic when using genuine emotions at work to make professional decisions. Many participants report that they prefer to express themselves honestly if it is appropriate for the situation, suggesting that their articulated emotions coexist with their experienced emotions and allow them to maintain appropriate workplace behaviour. Several participants claim that it is easier to use genuine emotions if they are regarded as positive, and that if they experience any negative emotions as a result of interpersonal disagreements, such as anger, frustration, or irritation, they strive to convey this constructively. This is congruent with Grandey et al. (2013), who explain that authentic emotional experience and expression is the most effective emotional labour strategy because it requires the least amount of mental effort. Furthermore, some participants report that if they believe they have been treated unfairly, they can be honest about it. However, in arguments or instances where displaying genuine emotions can impair their professional image or negatively affect the recipient, in which participants are unable to articulate their emotions constructively, they employ surface acting as a protective measure. Another situation in the workplace where several participants use genuine emotions is when they receive constructive feedback in an individual setting, where they feel more comfortable explaining themselves and being honest about their emotions. The following quotes demonstrate the use of genuine emotions as a strategy:

"I'm probably quite open about my feelings in general, I have a fantastic workplace, so it's almost only positive here". (Mia)

"I believe I have managed to regulate my emotions well so far [...] If I disagree with something, I try to express it directly but constructively, so it doesn't come across as just negativity". (Veronica)

Several participants engage in social sharing to vent their concerns or frustrations when they know others will support or listen to them. This is consistent with McCance et al. (2013), who argue that social sharing among employees can reduce the negative impact of emotional labour during customer interactions. However, in this case, this applies to interactions with internal company members, such as co-workers and managers. Some participants report that they receive emotional support from managers and must suppress their emotions in front of some of their co-workers. Diana supports this by explaining that she can always be open and honest with her managers. Others report that they suppress their emotions in front of managers and receive better support from their co-workers. Carl verifies this by stating that his co-workers are more supportive. This implies that, depending on how well others understand them, the participants will use either surface acting or genuine emotions with various organisational members. Finally, participants who work in organisations with clear and transparent internal communication and proper structure, as well as when receiving constructive feedback, are more likely to express genuine emotions, which is consistent with Walden (2021), who argue that transparency and trust are valuable aspects of an open internal communication climate.

### **Impact on Well-Being**

The findings reveal that high job demands, such as an excessive workload, multiple areas of responsibility, and unrealistic expectations, negatively impact the well-being of participants in terms of burnout, exhaustion, and stress, partially because they must perform surface acting. This emotional labour strategy, according to Lee and Madera (2019), can be understood as a job demand with a demanding and depleting emotional cost and is consistent with Grandey et al. (2013) and Guler et al. (2022), who argue that emotional exhaustion and burnout are regular health impairment outcomes of surface acting.

Furthermore, this agrees with Bakker et al. (2023), who argue that job demands include consistent physical, mental, or emotional effort, such as high work pressure, interpersonal conflict, or emotionally demanding interactions, which result in physical and mental costs, such as burnout and stress. Olivia supports this by saying that there is a daily element of stress as a communication professional today, which is not always understood by the rest of the organisation.

According to Bakker and Demerouti (2017), job demands can be either a hindrance, such as role ambiguity and work overload, or a challenge, such as high workload and responsibility. Many participants express frustration that they are overburdened and that others do not understand their primary role, referring to a job hindrance. Some participants believe that responsibility encourages their personal growth and achievement, referring to a job challenge. Thus, the findings indicate that job hindrances have the most significant negative impact on participants' well-being.

The findings demonstrate that the greater the freedom and responsibility, the greater the personal demands of participants. This is consistent with Bakker and Demerouti (2017),

who explains that personal demands like workaholism or perfectionism can have similar consequences as job demands. Some participants report experiencing low self-esteem and performance anxiety when quantity is preferred over quality, since they do not have enough time to immerse themselves in one area. When the personal demands are greater, some participants use surface acting to avoid sharing their anxiety and the individual demands they place on themselves to appear more engaged and capable at work. However, when the job demands outweigh their personal demands, as a result of a lack of creative space and when their full capacity is not being utilised, the participants are more comfortable using their genuine emotions, provided that there is clear and transparent internal communication. Priscilla confirms this by saying that she has been fortunate in recent workplaces with competent management and being able to express herself objectively as well as emotionally, such as frustration with monotonous work tasks.

The findings show that participants receive various amounts of feedback at their workplaces. Many participants state that instances of positive and constructive feedback have a beneficial influence on them, which can be linked to perceived organisational support. Several participants mention that they are content with their workplace's internal communication and feel better supported with high transparency and emotional permissiveness, in which they feel comfortable expressing their genuine emotions. This is consistent with Wojcik et al. (2022) who argue that organisational support can be regarded as a job resource that will also reduce the use of surface acting. Several participants use surface acting in organisations where internal communication is perceived by participants as ad hoc and there is a lack of feedback or recognition for performing work duties, indicating a lack of perceived organisational support.

In response to high job strain, Bakker and De Vries (2021) argue that employees are more likely to engage in maladaptive self-regulation strategies such as emotion-focused coping (emotion regulation) and self-undermining behaviours (e.g., interpersonal disagreements). The findings indicate that many participants use surface acting as a form of emotion-focused coping to maintain their professional image, be perceived as cooperative and appear less discontent when faced with job hindrances. This is consistent with Humphrey et al. (2015), who contend that the regulation strategies used to pursue and exhibit positive emotions, as well as the larger conditions under which emotional labour occurs, have a greater impact on employees' negative well-being than emotional labour itself. The following quote exemplify the impairment of well-being for communication professionals:

"I believe that the overall stress level for communication professionals is probably quite high, and there was a report about that from DIK not so long ago, that communication professionals were the profession with the highest rate of burnout, which I can completely understand. I believe that if you're a little younger and willing to do a lot of things where you don't have the courage to say no [...] burnout comes like a letter in the mail". (Sonja)

In regard to high job strain, Bakker and De Vries (2021) explain that employees are less likely to use adaptive self-regulation strategies such as recovery (leisure activities) or job crafting (proactively optimising the work environment). The findings reveal that some participants, for example, meditate and take recovery breaks at work to relieve stress. This suggests that they use job crafting as an adaptive self-regulation strategy to optimise their work environment. Furthermore, several participants who have previously endured burnout

explain that they used surface acting at work to hide feelings of frustration and irritation before going on sick leave. However, once recovered, they use genuine emotions as the primary strategy. The same participants note that with age and experience, they have become better at coming up with counterclaims, setting healthier boundaries at work, and not taking on more than they can handle in order to reduce stress and improve their job circumstances. This could imply that experiencing and expressing genuine emotions is a type of adaptive self-regulation strategy in terms of job crafting and is consistent with Guler et al. (2022), who argue that genuine emotions frequently result in positive outcomes for employees and the organisation. Because surface acting and deep acting are the two more established emotional labour strategies, with the former associated with a job demand and the latter with a job resource (Lee & Madera, 2019), this might explain why there is little research on genuine emotions associated with JD-R. However, considering the findings of this study, genuine emotions could be viewed as an adaptive self-regulation strategy or possibly a job resource.

The findings reveal that access to a sufficient amount of job resources positively impacts the well-being of participants. Several participants have access to social support, autonomy, feedback, and learning opportunities, which Bakker et al. (2014) exemplify as some job resources. These job resources are more common among participants working in larger organisations and less common among participants working in smaller organisations, which agrees with Bakker and Demerouti (2017), who explain that the size of the organisation and the occupational sector may be influencing factors. Furthermore, communication professionals who work alone have greater expectations than those who work in a communication department and have several co-workers to rely on. Participants state that this is a valuable asset that they would not trade for anything. Overall,

participants with substantial resources and challenging job demands believe that their company invest in them. Bakker and Demerouti (2017) contend that JD-R research has consistently demonstrated that employees perform optimally in work environments that combine challenging job demands with job resources since such environments facilitate their work engagement and personal growth. Leia supports this by explaining that if she is not challenged and there is a lack of expectations on her job, it has a negative impact on her well-being because that is what she enjoys about her work.

Several participants suggest additional resources to improve their work environment. These suggestions include on-the-job training regarding their frequent work tasks, proper and functional technical equipment, management with professional experience in communication, hiring more staff to aid in time management, more structured and strategic planning, better task delegation and that organisations must clearly define the role of the communication professional to ensure that they are valued and understood. Bakker and De Vries (2021) emphasise the importance of organisations monitoring and improving job characteristics to prevent burnout, such as establishing realistic goals and challenges, optimising job demands, and providing adequate job resources. Furthermore, Alsakarneh et al. (2019) argue that employees who perform emotional labour are more likely to be dissatisfied with their jobs than those who do not. The findings of this study contradict this because, despite using surface acting, many participants report high levels of overall job satisfaction.

### **Main Findings and Research Questions**

RQ1: Which workplace situations cause communication professionals to engage in emotional labour in an internal communication context? The findings demonstrate that certain workplace situations cause communication professionals to use different emotional labour strategies in an internal communication context. They use either surface acting or genuine emotions, and deep acting was undiscovered in this study. However, which emotional labour strategy they employ is determined by their perception of the profession, the overall structure of internal communication, their years of experience and personality differences. Essentially, the communication profession involves emotional labour because it requires communication professionals to interact face-to-face or voice-to-voice with other organisational members, as well as elicit an emotional state in themselves or others. Table 3 shows which workplace situations cause communication professionals to engage in emotional labour in an internal communication context.

Table 3
Situations at Work that Cause Emotional Labour

Research Question 1				
Surface Acting	Genuine Emotions			
1. Interpersonal disagreements	1. Interpersonal disagreements			
Receiving negative feedback during internal meetings	Receiving constructive feedback in a one-on-one setting			
Assisting other organisational members with work tasks on short notice	Social sharing or seeking emotional support from coworkers or managers			

The findings reveal that different factors motivate communication professionals to use surface acting. First and foremost, communication professionals use surface acting to hide feelings of anger, frustration, and irritation to present a positive or neutral demeanour in order to adhere to the feeling rules and meet the expectations of their profession. This corresponds to their perceptions of the communication profession as a service profession in which they are expected to perform as a factorum. These emotions arise from the workload that communication professionals experience, as well as the fact that other organisational members frequently misunderstand their workload and primary role. Second, surface acting is more common among communication professionals who perceive their workplace's internal communication as non-transparent, ad hoc, or lacking a formal structure and where they routinely deal with problems as they arise. Third, the more years of experience communication professionals have, the less they use surface acting in an internal communication context. Fourth, due to personality differences, communication professionals will use surface acting to varying degrees. The findings show that highly sensitive individuals become emotionally overburdened more frequently than their coworkers and, as a result, use surface acting daily.

The first workplace situation that causes communication professionals to use surface acting is during interpersonal disagreements when they feel misunderstood and uncomfortable sharing their emotions and wish to maintain positive co-worker relationships. The second workplace situation that causes them to use surface acting is when they receive negative feedback about a communication-related task during internal meetings attended by several organisational members in order to appear compliant or neutral, even though they may be frustrated. The third workplace situation that causes communication professionals to use surface acting is when they must assist other

organisational members with work tasks on short notice in order to maintain a professional and cooperative attitude in the workplace, although they may feel overwhelmed.

The findings reveal that different factors motivate communication professionals to use genuine emotions. First and foremost, communication professionals prefer to use genuine emotions because they wish to remain authentic. This strategy is more prevalent when experiencing happiness internally because positive emotions are overall more encouraged due to existing feeling rules in the workplace. These emotions often arise from completing larger work tasks or receiving positive feedback from other organisational members.

Second, genuine emotions are more prominent among communication professionals who perceive their workplace's internal communication as permissive, transparent, and structured. Third, the more years of experience communication professionals have, the more they tend to use genuine emotions in an internal communication context.

The first workplace situation that causes communication professionals to use genuine emotions is during interpersonal disagreements when they feel comfortable sharing feelings of irritation while maintaining a respectful attitude towards their interlocutor. However, if they struggle to articulate their emotions constructively, communication professionals turn to surface acting as a protective approach. The second workplace situation that causes them to use genuine emotions is receiving constructive feedback in a one-on-one setting where they can provide explanations and eventual counterclaims. The third workplace situation that causes communication professionals to use genuine emotions is engaging in social sharing and seeking emotional support from co-workers or managers, depending on their relationships and how well others understand them, in which they can express if they are overwhelmed or feel unfairly treated.

RQ2: What are the consequences of using different emotional labour strategies for communication professionals? The findings demonstrate that there are several consequences of using different emotional labour strategies for communication professionals. However, the emotional labour strategy they employ will have different outcomes for their well-being. This is confined by the job demands and resources at their workplaces and their years of experience. Table 4 shows the consequences of using different emotional labour strategies for communication professionals.

Table 4

Consequences of Using Different Emotional Labour Strategies

Research Question 2				
Surface Acting	Genuine Emotions			
1. Burnout, exhaustion, and stress	1. Stress relief			
2. Turnover intentions	2. Work engagement			
3. Perceived lack of organisational support	3. Perceived organisational support			
4. Increased job strain	4. Decreased job strain			

The first consequence of using surface acting as a maladaptive self-regulation strategy in response to high job strain for communication professionals is burnout, exhaustion, and stress. This finding confirms the health-impairing process of using surface acting as an emotional labour strategy. The second consequence of surface acting is turnover intentions, which occur when communication professionals leave their places of employment due to high job strain and the purposeful suppression of emotions. This finding suggests that surface acting can be viewed as a job demand, leading to resignation. The third consequence of using surface acting is that communication professionals perceive a lack of

support from their organisations, particularly when there is a lack of time for recovery, and where this emotional labour strategy is required to maintain their professional image and a cooperative work environment. The fourth consequence of surface acting is that hiding or suppressing feelings of anger, frustration, and irritation, combined with work overload, adds to the already existing job strain.

The first consequence of using genuine emotions as an adaptive self-regulation strategy in response to high job strain for communication professionals is stress relief, which can be achieved by frequently using job crafting to improve their work environment through mediation and recovery breaks. Additionally, the most notable finding is that surface acting is more prevalent among participants before burnout, whereas after recovery, genuine emotions are the primary strategy for setting healthier boundaries and being more honest about their capabilities at work, both of which have a positive impact on participants' well-being.

The second consequence of using genuine emotions as a means of job crafting through actively optimising the work environment is that communication professionals feel less overwhelmed by work tasks, which increases work engagement. The third consequence of using genuine emotions is perceived organisational support, which occurs when communication professionals can express their emotions, such as disappointment, and feel heard by their organisations. The fourth consequence of using genuine emotions is decreased job strain because this strategy can be viewed as a job resource that allows communication professionals to avoid hiding or suppressing their emotions at work. Finally, the findings show that job satisfaction among communication professionals remains high regardless of which emotional labour strategy they employ.

### **Conclusion**

#### **Main Conclusions**

This study aimed to investigate the concept of emotional labour and the well-being of communication professionals in an internal communication context. To collect data for this single case study, the researchers conducted semi-structured in-depth interviews with 20 communication professionals in Sweden of various ages, genders, titles, and years in the industry from three occupational sectors. After data collection, the researchers used thematic analysis to analyse the qualitative data following the six-step process by Braun and Clarke (2006), revealing three overarching themes and two subthemes.

The findings revealed that communication professionals encounter a variety of expectations in their profession. For instance, specialist knowledge was rarely sufficient in their current workplaces, and generalist knowledge appeared advantageous because they rarely had time to devote themselves to one area. They were responsible for various work activities such as content production and design, GDPR compliance, employer branding, business acumen and comprehending new technology. They also encountered expectations in developing internal communication practices, serving, and assisting other organisational members, and driving their organisations forward through various communication activities. Because measuring and evaluating communication efforts takes time, their workload and primary roles are frequently perceived as vague by other organisational members, which coincides with Falkheimer et al. (2017), who explained that communication professionals' roles are somewhat ambiguous, and Killingsworth and Flynn (2016), who argued that communication professionals are frequently overwhelmed by their multifaceted work

duties. Additionally, the young age of the profession and societal changes in Sweden (Palm & Sandström, 2013) might have contributed to the ambiguous perception surrounding the profession and the fact that communication professionals from different sectors perform similar tasks.

The findings demonstrated that communication professionals experience a range of internal emotions while projecting a different demeanour externally, mainly due to the high expectations of their occupation and their perception of it as a service profession. Like flight attendants (Hochschild, 1983), service workers (Kim & Wang, 2018), and nurses (Afsar et al., 2017), communication professionals frequently interact face-to-face or voice-to-voice with other organisational members and sometimes must elicit an emotional state in themselves or others, which meets the criteria of occupations involving emotional labour, presented by Hochschild (2012). Furthermore, this aligns with the statement by Grandey and Melloy (2017) that emotional labour is utilised to achieve organisational goals. Because Hochschild (2012) argued that emotional labour is a form of workplace oppression in which employees frequently interact with the public, the concept has mainly been investigated in an external communication context. However, Glikson and Erez (2013) noted that in an internal communication context, employees regularly interact with other organisational members, such as managers and co-workers, which is the occurrence of the current study.

There were various workplace situations that caused communication professionals to use different emotional labour strategies in an internal communication context. Their utilisation of different emotional labour strategies was influenced by their perception of the profession, the overall structure of internal communication, their years of experience and personality differences. More specifically, when the internal communication was described as ad hoc, unstructured, and non-transparent, surface acting was more common among

communication professionals. In contrast, genuine emotions was more common when internal communication was described as permissive, transparent, clearly structured, and included opportunities for constructive feedback.

The first emotional labour strategy used by communication professionals was surface acting to hide feelings of anger, frustration, and irritation to present a positive or neutral demeanour to meet the expectations of their profession. These emotions arose from their experienced workload, and that other organisational members frequently misunderstood what the communication profession entails. They also used surface acting to uphold positive co-worker relationships and maintain a professional image and cooperative work atmosphere. Moreover, the findings revealed that highly sensitive individuals were more often emotionally overwhelmed than their co-workers and used surface acting daily. The workplace situations that caused communication professionals to use surface acting in an internal communication context were interpersonal disagreements, receiving negative feedback during internal meetings and assisting other organisational members with work tasks on short notice.

The second emotional labour strategy used by communication professionals was genuine emotions to exhibit their inner emotional state, which was easier when those emotions were positive, as this was generally more encouraged in the workplace. These emotions arose from completing larger work tasks and receiving positive feedback from other organisational members. The workplace situations that caused communication professionals to use genuine emotions in an internal communication context were interpersonal disagreements, provided that the conversation was constructive, receiving constructive feedback in a one-on-one setting, and social sharing or seeking emotional support from co-workers or managers. In summary, the findings showed that regardless of

which emotional labour strategy communication professionals used, their overall job satisfaction was remarkably high.

### **Research Implications**

The findings revealed that surface acting was used as a maladaptive self-regulation strategy in response to high job strain, resulting in burnout, exhaustion, and stress, i.e., a health impairment on well-being. This is consistent with Bakker and De Vries (2021), who explained that with high job strain, employees tend to use maladaptive self-regulation strategies, such as emotion-focused coping, or in this study, surface acting, which has also been described as a job demand by Lee and Madera (2022). However, the impairing effects of surface acting as a job demand decreased when there was a satisfactory balance of challenging job demands and sufficient job resources.

This study has two theoretical implications that deserve further exploration in the field of organisational communication. First and foremost, genuine emotions were discovered to be an adaptive self-regulation strategy in response to high job strain. The findings demonstrated that communication professionals used genuine emotions as a form of job crafting to actively improve their work environment by setting healthier boundaries at work and take recovery breaks (Bakker & De Vries, 2021), which resulted in higher work engagement and stress reduction. Another theoretical implication of this study is that surface acting was more common among participants before burnout, whereas genuine emotions were the primary strategy after recovery. This suggests that genuine emotions was used to improve employee well-being after suffering from the impairing effects of surface acting. Those who had experienced burnout due to the purposeful suppression

and hiding of emotions due to high job strain subsequently preferred using genuine emotions to minimise the risk of ending up impairing their health again. Therefore, in this study, genuine emotions as an emotional labour strategy in an internal communication context was the most effective strategy for communication professionals' well-being.

Finally, a practical implication of this study is that additional job resources could improve the work environment and well-being of communication professionals in Sweden. For example, on-the-job training related to their multifaceted work tasks, proper and functional technical equipment, management with professional experience in communication practises, an increased number of employees to assist with time management, more tools for structured planning regarding internal communication, better task delegation, and organisations that clearly define the role of the communication professional to ensure that they are valued and understood.

### **Limitations and Further Research Directions**

This thesis was not without limitations. First, the findings are limited to the contributions of participants. Even though the sample included communication professionals of various ages, genders, job titles, years in the industry, and sectors, it cannot represent a grander proportion of the communication profession in Sweden, as would be more likely with a quantitative research design. However, this was not the purpose of this study since it sought in-depth perspectives and experiences of communication professionals. Second, because people behave and express themselves differently in different contexts, what participants disclosed during the interviews might not always be consistent with their actions and expressions in other contexts. Therefore, the researchers

had to make assumptions about issues that otherwise could have been discovered through participant observation. Third, although pilot interviews could have been used to test the quality of the interview guide and identify potential researcher biases, this was not possible for the current study due to time constraints.

Future research contributions could expand the Job Demands-Resources (JD-R) theory by incorporating genuine emotions as an emotional labour strategy. Because previous research has primarily focused on surface acting as a job demand and deep acting as a job resource, the third strategy requires more attention, such as whether it can be considered a potential job resource and what implications this might have on employee well-being. Furthermore, examining emotional labour in the workplace through the lens of social sustainability and Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) for communication professionals could broaden the scope of emotional labour literature. In closing, because the current study was a single case study, future research could conduct a multiple case study in which two or more cases, for example, communication professionals from two different sectors or culturally diverse groups, are examined, allowing for comparison and contrast across cases.

### References

- Acharya, A. S., Prakash, A., Saxena, P., & Nigam, A. (2013). Sampling: Why and How of it? *Indian Journal of Medical Specialties, 4*(2), 330-333.

  https://doi.org/10.7713/ijms.2013.0032
- Adedeji, A., Olonisakin, T. T., Metzner, F., Buchcik, J., Tsabedze, W., Boehnke, K., & Idemudia, E. (2022). Interpreting Microaggression as a Determinant of Wellbeing.

  \*\*Journal of Racial and Ethnic Health Disparities.\*\* <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s40615-022-01426-z">https://doi.org/10.1007/s40615-022-01426-z</a>
- Afsar, B., Cheema, S., & Masood, M. (2017). The Role of Emotional Dissonance and Emotional Intelligence on Job-Stress, Burnout and Well-Being Among Nurses.

  International Journal of Information Systems and Change Management, 9(2), 87-105.
- Allen, M. (2017). The SAGE Encyclopedia of Communication Research Methods (1st ed.).

  SAGE Publications. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781483381411
- Alsakarneh, A. A. A., Hong, S. C., Eneizan, B. M., & AL-kharabsheh, K. A. (2019). Exploring the Relationship Between the Emotional Labor and Performance in the Jordanian Insurance Industry. *Current Psychology*, *38*(5), 1140-1151.

  https://doi.org/10.1007/s12144-018-9935-2
- Apolo, D., Báez, V., Pauker, L., & Pasquel, G. (2017). Corporate Communication

  Management: Considerations for its Study and Practice. *Revista Latina de Comunicación Social, 72*, 521-540. https://doi.org/10.4185/RLCS-2017-1177

- Archibald, M. M., Ambagtsheer, R. C., Casey, M. G., & Lawless, M. (2019). Using Zoom

  Videoconferencing for Qualitative Data Collection: Perceptions and Experiences of

  Researchers and Participants. *International Journal of Qualitative*Methods, 18. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406919874596">https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406919874596</a>
- Bakker, A. B., & Demerouti, E. (2007). The Job Demands-Resources Model: State of the Art. *Journal of Managerial Psychology, 22*(3), 309-328.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1108/02683940710733115">https://doi.org/10.1108/02683940710733115</a>
- Bakker, A. B., Demerouti, E., & Sanz Vergel, A. (2014). Burnout and Work Engagement:

  The JD-R Approach. *Annual Review of Organizational Psychology and Organizational Behavior*, 1(1), 389-411. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-orgpsych-031413-091235">https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-orgpsych-031413-091235</a>
- Bakker, A. B., & De Vries, J. (2021). Job Demands-Resources Theory and Self-Regulation:

  New Explanations and Remedies for Job Burnout. *Anxiety, Stress, & Coping, 34*(1),

  1-21. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/10615806.2020.1797695">https://doi.org/10.1080/10615806.2020.1797695</a>
- Bakker, A. B., Xanthopoulou, D., & Demerouti, E. (2023). How Does Chronic Burnout

  Affect Dealing with Weekly Job Demands? A Test of Central Propositions in JD-R

  and COR-Theories. *Applied Psychology*, 72(1), 389-410.

  https://doi.org/10.1111/apps.12382
- Becker, W. J., & Cropanzano, R. (2011). Display Rules and Emotional Labor within Work

  Teams. In C. E. J. Härtel, N. M. Ashkanasy & W. J. Zerbe (Eds.), What Have We

  Learned? Ten Years On (pp. 197-223). Emerald Group Publishing Limited.

  https://doi.org/10.1108/s1746-9791(2011)0000007013

- Bellas, M. L. (1999). Emotional Labor in Academia: The Case of Professors. *The ANNALS of the American Academy of Political and Social Science*, *561*(1), 96-110.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/000271629956100107">https://doi.org/10.1177/000271629956100107</a>
- Benesch, S. (2017). Emotions and English Language Teaching: Exploring Teachers'

  Emotion Labour (1st ed.). Routledge. <a href="https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315736181">https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315736181</a>
- Bolton, S.C. (2005). *Emotion Management in the Workplace* (Management, Work and Organisations). Palgrave Macmillan.
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2006). Using Thematic Analysis in Psychology. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, *3*(2), 77-101.
- Brewis, J. (2014). The Ethics of Researching Friends: On Convenience Sampling in Qualitative Management and Organization Studies. *British Journal of Management*, 25(4), 849-862. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8551.12064">https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8551.12064</a>
- Bridgen, L. (2011). Emotional Labour and the Pursuit of the Personal Brand: Public

  Relations Practitioners' Use of Social Media. *Journal of Media Practice, 12*(1), 61
  76. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1386/jmpr.12.1.61">https://doi.org/10.1386/jmpr.12.1.61</a> 1
- Brook, P. (2009). In Critical Defence of 'Emotional Labour': Refuting Bolton's Critique of Hochschild's Concept. *Work, Employment and Society, 23*(3), 531-548.
- Broom, G. M., & Smith, G. D. (1979). Testing the Practitioner's Impact on Clients. *Public Relations Review*, *5*(3), 47-59. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/S0363-8111(79)80027-2">https://doi.org/10.1016/S0363-8111(79)80027-2</a>
- Bryman, A. (2012). Social Research Methods. OXFORD University Press.
- Bucht, A. (2019). Kommunikation på olika villkor Flexibilitet, obetalt arbete och kompetensflykt (DIK 2019:3).
  - https://assets.ctfassets.net/vkygthqfrquy/4rFkGNR3qJfpUhCxVB85W/d86fb5e5e0

- <u>69c8da357ff913cfea0f35/dikkommunikation-pa-olika-villkor-flexibilitet-obetalt-arbete-och-kompetensflykt.pdf</u>
- Bucht, A. (2021). Vad ska kommuniceras och av vem? En rapport om yrkesetik,

  medierelationer och transparens i offentlig kommunikation (DIK 2021:6).

  <a href="https://assets.ctfassets.net/vkygthqfrquy/01P2hGsY9sklCoBYhqeML2/2bd67484">https://assets.ctfassets.net/vkygthqfrquy/01P2hGsY9sklCoBYhqeML2/2bd67484</a>

  d8cc9ebb614a9472fe82e20f/Vad ska kommuniceras och av vem En rapport

  om yrkesetik medierelationer och transparens i offentlig kommunikation

  Castells, M. (2009). Communication power. EGEA.
- Chenail, R. J. (2011). Interviewing the Investigator: Strategies for Addressing

  Instrumentation and Researcher Bias Concerns in Qualitative Research. *The Qualitative Report, 16*(1), 255-262. <a href="https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2011.1051">https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2011.1051</a>
- Chirban, J. T. (1996). *Interviewing in Depth: The Interactive-Relational Approach*. SAGE Publications.
- Dall'Ora, C., Ball, J. & Reinius, M. (2020). Burnout in Nursing: A Theoretical Review.

  Human Resources for Health, 18(41). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12960-020-00469-
- Danieli, A. (2020, August 17). Så många är de kommunala kommunikatörerna. *Smedjan.*https://timbro.se/smedjan/sa-manga-ar-de-kommunala-kommunikatorerna/
- Delgado, C., Evans, A., Roche, M., & Foster, K. (2022). Mental Health Nurses' Resilience in the Context of Emotional Labour: An Interpretive Qualitative Study. *International Journal of Mental Health Nursing*, 31(5), 1260-1275.

https://doi.org/10.1111/inm.13037

- Demerouti, E., Bakker, A. B., Nachreiner, F., & Schaufeli, W. B. (2001). The Job Demands-Resources Model of Burnout. *Journal of Applied Psychology, 86*(3), 499-512. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.86.3.499
- Denzin, N., & Lincoln, Y. (2011). *The SAGE Handbook of Qualitative Research*. SAGE Publications.
- Dicicco-Bloom, B., & Crabtree, B. F. (2006). The Qualitative Research Interview. *Medical Education*, 40(4), 314-321. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2929.2006.02418.x">https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2929.2006.02418.x</a>
- Diefendorff, J. M., Croyle, M. H., & Gosserand, R. H. (2005). The Dimensionality and

  Antecedents of Emotional Labor Strategies. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 66(2),

  339-357. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvb.2004.02.001">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvb.2004.02.001</a>
- Ducharme, L. J., & Kwan, H. Y. (2017). Emotion Regulation at Work: The Role of Surface and Deep Acting in Predicting Well-Being. *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology*, 22(2), 152-162.
- Eisenhardt, K. M., & Graebner, M. E. (2007). Theory Building from Cases: Opportunities and Challenges. *Academy of Management Journal*, *50*(1), 25-32. <a href="https://www.jstor.org/stable/20159839">https://www.jstor.org/stable/20159839</a>
- Etikan, I., Sulaiman, A. R., & Rukayya, S. A. (2016). Comparison of Convenience Sampling and Purposive Sampling. *American Journal of Theoretical and Applied Statistics*, 5(1), 1-4. 10.11648/j.ajtas.20160501.11
- European Commission. (2021, July 5). Ethics and data protection. Research Ethics and Integrity Sector. <a href="https://ec.europa.eu/info/funding-tenders/opportunities/docs/2021-2027/horizon/guidance/ethics-and-data-protection-he-en.pdf">https://ec.europa.eu/info/funding-tenders/opportunities/docs/2021-2027/horizon/guidance/ethics-and-data-protection-he-en.pdf</a>

- Falkheimer, J., Heide, M., Nothhaft, H., von Platen, S., Simonsson, C., & Andersson,
  R. (2017). Is Strategic Communication too Important to be Left to Communication
  Professionals?: Managers' and Coworkers' Attitudes Towards Strategic
  Communication and Communication Professionals. *Public Relations Review*, *43*(1),
  91–101. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pubrev.2016.10.011
- Fereday, J., & Muir-Cochrane, E. (2006). Demonstrating Rigor Using Thematic Analysis: A

  Hybrid Approach of Inductive and Deductive Coding and Theme Development.

  International Journal of Qualitative Methods, 5(1), 80-92.

  https://doi.org/10.1177/160940690600500107
- Fineman, S. (2004). Getting the Measure of Emotion And the Cautionary Tale of Emotional Intelligence. *Human Relations*, *57*(6), 719-740. https://doi.org/10.1177/0018726704044953
- Fuoli, M., & Bednarek, M. (2022). Emotional Labor in Webcare and Beyond: A linguistic Framework and Case Study. *Journal of Pragmatics*, *191*, 256-270. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pragma.2022.01.016.
- Fyke, J. P., Schmisseur, A., Webb, N. G., Vaughn, M., & Davis, J. (2022). "We Do
   Everything": The Broad, Evolving, Varied, and Tentative Corporate

   Communication Field. Business and Professional Communication Quarterly, 85(3), 279-297. https://doi.org/10.1177/23294906221109192
- Glikson, E., & Erez, M. (2013). Emotion Display Norms in Virtual Teams. *Journal of*\*Personnel Psychology, 12(1), 22-32. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1027/1866-5888/a000078">https://doi.org/10.1027/1866-5888/a000078</a>

  Golafshani, N. (2003). Understanding Reliability and Validity in Qualitative Research.

*Qualitative Report, 8*(4), 597-606. <a href="https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2003.1870">https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2003.1870</a>

- Grandey, A. A. (2000). Emotional Regulation in the Workplace: A New Way to

  Conceptualize Emotional Labor. *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology, 5*(1),

  95–110. https://doi.org/10.1037/1076-8998.5.1.95
- Grandey, A. A., (2003). When "the show must go on": Surface Acting and Deep Acting as

  Determinants of Emotional Exhaustion and Peer-Rated Service Delivery. *Academy*of Management Journal, 46(1), 86–96. https://doi.org/10.2307/30040678
- Grandey, A. A., Diefendorff, J. M., & Rupp, D. E. (2013). *Emotional Labor in the 21st Century: Diverse Perspectives on Emotion Regulation at Work.* Routledge.
- Grandey, A. A., Kern, J. H., & Frone, M. R. (2007). Verbal Abuse from Outsiders Versus

  Insiders: Comparing Frequency, Impact on Emotional Exhaustion, and the Role of

  Emotional Labor. *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology*, 12(1), 63–79.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1037/1076-8998.12.1.63">https://doi.org/10.1037/1076-8998.12.1.63</a>
- Grandey, A. A., & Melloy, R. C. (2017). The State of the Heart: Emotional Labor as

  Emotion Regulation Reviewed and Revised. *Journal of Occupational Health*Psychology, 22(3), 407-422.
- Güler, M., Ocak, M., & Köksal, O. (2022). The Moderating Role of Surface and Deep Acting on the Relationship Between Natural Emotional Labor and Organizational Commitment. *Current Psychology*. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s12144-022-03274-w">https://doi.org/10.1007/s12144-022-03274-w</a>
- Halltoft, E., & Bertilsson, V. (2020). The misunderstood PR practitioner A qualitative interview study on how PR practitioners use discursive tools to create their professional identity and how communicators reason about the image of the profession. [Bachelor's thesis, Umeå University]. DiVA. <a href="https://www.diva-portal.org/smash/get/diva2:1426473/FULLTEXT01.pdf">https://www.diva-portal.org/smash/get/diva2:1426473/FULLTEXT01.pdf</a>

- Heale, R., & Twycross, A. (2018). What is a Case Study? *Evidence-Based Nursing, 21*(1), 7-8. <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/eb-2017-102845">http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/eb-2017-102845</a>
- Heide, M. (2017). *Uppfattningar om kommunikation och kommunikatörer i organisationer*. Sveriges Kommunikatörer.

  <a href="https://sverigeskommunikatorer.se/globalassets/dokument/forskningsrapporter/">https://sverigeskommunikatorer.se/globalassets/dokument/forskningsrapporter/</a>

  <u>rapport-uppfattningar-om-kommunikation.pdf</u>
- Heide, M., & Simonsson, C. (2011). Putting Coworkers in the Limelight: New Challenges for Communication Professionals. *International Journal of Strategic Communication*, *5*(4), 201-220.
- Heim, L. (2020). Emotional Labor in the Workplace Sustaining smiles vs. sustainable smile:

  A case study from Denmark. [Master's thesis, Lund University]. Lund University

  Publications.

  <a href="https://lup.lub.lu.se/luur/download?func=downloadFile&recordOld=9012328&fil">https://lup.lub.lu.se/luur/download?func=downloadFile&recordOld=9012328&fil</a>
- Hochschild, A. R. (1983). *The Managed Heart: Commercialization of Human Feeling*.

  University of California Press.

eOld=9012332

- Hochschild, A. R. (2012). *The Managed Heart: Commercialization of Human Feeling*.

  University of California Press. <a href="http://www.jstor.org/stable/10.1525/j.ctt1pn9bk">http://www.jstor.org/stable/10.1525/j.ctt1pn9bk</a>
- Hu, X., & Shi, J. (2015). Employees' Surface Acting in Interactions with Leaders and Peers.

  Journal of Organizational Behavior, 36(8), 1132-1152.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1002/job.2015">https://doi.org/10.1002/job.2015</a>
- Hülsheger, U. R., & Schewe, A. F. (2011). On the Costs and Benefits of Emotional Labor: A Meta-Analysis of Three Decades of Research. *Journal of Occupational Health*\*Psychology, 16(3), 361-389. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0022876

- Hume, J., & Leonard, A. (2014). Exploring the Strategic Potential of Internal

  Communication in International Non-Governmental Organisations. *Public*Relations Review, 40(2), 294-304. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pubrev.2013.10.011">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pubrev.2013.10.011</a>
- Humphrey, R., Ashforth, B., & Diefendorff, J. (2015). The Bright Side of Emotional Labor. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 36(6), 749-769.

  https://doi.org/10.1002/job.2019
- Hwang, H.C., & Chi, L.C. (2010). The Effects of Emotional Labor on Physical and Psychological Health. *Journal of Health and Care Management*, 7(2), 38-44.
- Jackson, J. (2014). *Introducing Language and Intercultural Communication*. Routledge. <a href="https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315848938">https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315848938</a>
- Jeung, D. Y., Kim, C., & Chang, S. J. (2018). Emotional Labor and Burnout: A Review of the Literature. *Yonsei Medical Journal*, *59*(2), 187-193.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.3349/ymj.2018.59.2.187">https://doi.org/10.3349/ymj.2018.59.2.187</a>
- Kelly, B. T., Gardner, P. J., Stone, J., Hixson, A., & Dissassa, D. T. (2021). Hidden in Plain Sight: Uncovering the Emotional Labor of Black Women Students at Historically White Colleges and Universities. *Journal of Diversity in Higher Education*, 14(2), 203-216. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1037/dhe0000161">https://doi.org/10.1037/dhe0000161</a>
- Killingsworth, C., & Flynn, T. (2016). Assessing the CPRS Pathways to the Profession

  Competency Framework: Perspectives on Corporate Communication Leadership

  Competencies and Credentials. *Corporate Communications: An International Journal*, 21(2), 177-194. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1108/CCIJ-03-2015-0013">https://doi.org/10.1108/CCIJ-03-2015-0013</a>
- Kim, M., & Williams, E. A. (2022). Emotional Sustainability in Human Services

  Organizations: Cultural and Communicative Paths to Dealing with Emotional

  Work. Sustainability, 14(22), 15470. https://doi.org/10.3390/su142215470

- Kim, S., & Wang, J. (2018). The Role of Job Demands-Resources (JDR) Between Service Workers' Emotional Labor and Burnout: New Directions for Labor Policy at Local Government. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 15(12), 2894. <a href="https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph15122894">https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph15122894</a>
- Lee, L., & Madera, J. M. (2019). Faking it or Feeling it: The Emotional Displays of Surface and Deep Acting on Stress and Engagement. *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management*, 31(4), 1744-1762.

  https://doi.org/10.1108/IJCHM-05-2018-0405
- Lee, Y., & Kim, J. (2022). The Impacts of CEO Leadership Behaviors on Employees'

  Affective Commitment and Scouting Behavior: The Mediating Role of Symmetrical

  Internal Communication. *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*, 43(2),

  261-278. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1108/LODJ-11-2020-0501">https://doi.org/10.1108/LODJ-11-2020-0501</a>
- Levine Brown, E., Vesely, C. K., Mehta, S., & Kristabel, S. (2022) Preschool Teachers'

  Emotional Acting and School-Based Interactions. *Early Childhood Education Journal*, *51*, 615-626. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s10643-022-01326-1">https://doi.org/10.1007/s10643-022-01326-1</a>
- Li, H., & Liu, H. (2021). Beginning EFL Teachers' Emotional Labor Strategies in the Chinese Context. *Frontiers in Psychology, 12,* 737746.
  - https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2021.737746
- Lindberg, J. (2019). Självgående, samarbetsvillig och driven Allt för att vara en god kommunikatör: En kvalitativ studie om förändringarna i kommunikatörsyrket det senaste 25 åren. [Bachelor's thesis, Halmstad University]. DiVA.

  <a href="http://urn.kb.se/resolve?urn=urn:nbn:se:hh:diva-40145">http://urn.kb.se/resolve?urn=urn:nbn:se:hh:diva-40145</a>

- Lyndon, S., Rawat, P. S., & Pawar, D. (2021). Is Emotional Labour a Positive Experience for Teachers? A Qualitative Study. *International Journal of Educational Management,* 35(2), 532-548. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJEM-03-2020-0149
- Mangione, T. W., Fowler, F. J., & Louis, T. A. (1992). Question Characteristics and Interviewer Effects. *Journal of Official Statistics*, 8(3), 293-307.
- Mann, S. (1999). Emotion at Work: To What Extent are we Expressing, Suppressing, or Faking it? European Journal of Work and Organizational Psychology, 8(3), 347-369. https://doi.org/10.1080/135943299398221
- Maslach, C., & Jackson, S. E. (1984). Patterns of Burnout Among a National Sample of Public Contact Workers. *Journal of Health and Human Resources Administration,* 7(2), 189–212.
- McCance, A. S., Nye, C. D., Wang, L., Jones, K. S., & Chiu, C. (2013). Alleviating the Burden of Emotional Labor. *Journal of Management*, *39*(2), 392-415.

  https://doi.org/10.1177/0149206310383909
- Mehra, B. (2002). Bias in Qualitative Research: Voices from an Online Classroom. *The Qualitative Report*, 7(1), 1-19. <a href="https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2002.1986">https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2002.1986</a>
- Merriam-Webster. (n.d.). Factotum. In *Merriam-Webster.com dictionary*. Retrieved

  March 1, 2023, from <a href="https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/factotum">https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/factotum</a>
- Merriam-Webster. (n.d.). Well-Being. In *Merriam-Webster.com dictionary*. Retrieved May 2, 2023, from https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/well-being
- Mero-Jaffe, I. (2011). 'Is that what I Said?' Interview Transcript Approval by Participants:

  An Aspect of Ethics in Qualitative Research. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 10(3), 231-247. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/160940691101000304">https://doi.org/10.1177/160940691101000304</a>

- Meyer, C. B. (2001). A Case in Case Study Methodology. *Field Methods, 13*(4), 329-352. https://doi.org/10.1177/1525822X0101300402
- Mohd Arifin, S. R. (2018). Ethical Considerations in Qualitative Study. *International Journal of Care Scholars*, 1(2), 30-33. https://doi.org/10.31436/ijcs.v1i2.82
- Monrad, M. (2017). Emotional Labour and Qovernmentality: Productive Power in Childcare. *Contemporary Issues in Early Childhood, 18*(3), 281-293. https://doi.org/10.1177/1463949117731022
- Ndubuisi Eze, P. (2017). Managing Emotions in Project Teams The Impacts of Emotions on Project Teams: The Case of a Swedish Project-Based Organisation. [Master's thesis, KTH Royal Institute of Technology]. DiVA portal. <a href="https://www.diva-portal.org/smash/get/diva2:1091138/FULLTEXT01.pdf">https://www.diva-portal.org/smash/get/diva2:1091138/FULLTEXT01.pdf</a>
- Noble, H., & Smith, J. (2015). Issues of Validity and Reliability in Qualitative Research.

  Evidence-Based Nursing, 18(2), 34-35. http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/eb-2015-102054
- Oliveira, S., Pinto, A., Carvalho, C., De Moura, R. C., Santos-Costa, P., & Gondim, S. (2023).

  Emotional Labour Demands and Work Engagement in Portuguese Police Officers.

  Police Practice & Research, 24(2), 199-215.

https://doi.org/10.1080/15614263.2022.2098128

- Palm, G., & Sandström, H. (2013). Kommunikatörer: Ett mellanskikt av sociala individualister. Linnaeus University.
  - http://urn.kb.se/resolve?urn=urn:nbn:se:lnu:diva-32495
- Palm, V. (2023). Detaljstyrning och censur Offentliganställda kommunikatörers oro för samtiden och framtiden (DIK 2023:3).
  - https://assets.ctfassets.net/vkygthqfrquy/4kGOOGz21gHRuFbunkUFCe/46af412f 2d9b4ff7f908eebc5b3d3ceb/Detaljstyrning-och-censur.pdf

- Parker, C., Scott, S., & Geddes, A. (2019). Snowball Sampling, In P. Atkinson, S. Delamont,
  A. Cernat, J. W. Sakshaug, & R. A. Williams (Eds.), SAGE Research Methods

  Foundations. <a href="https://doi.org/10.4135/9781526421036831710">https://doi.org/10.4135/9781526421036831710</a>
- Powers, W. (2005). Transcription Techniques for the Spoken Word. AltaMira Press.
- Pultz, S., & Dupret, K. (2022). Emotions online: Exploring knowledge workers' emotional labour in a digital context in an agile IT company. *Research Square*.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.21203/rs.3.rs-2353341/v1">https://doi.org/10.21203/rs.3.rs-2353341/v1</a>
- Quinney, L., Dwyer, T., & Chapman, Y. (2016). Who, Where, and How of Interviewing

  Peers: Implications for a Phenomenological Study. *SAGE Open, 6*(3).

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/2158244016659688">https://doi.org/10.1177/2158244016659688</a>
- Rabionet, S. E. (2011). How I Learned to Design and Conduct Semi-Structured Interviews:

  An Ongoing and Continuous Journey. *The Qualitative Report*, *16*(2), 563566. https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2011.1070
- Rafaeli, A., & Sutton, R. I. (1987). Expression of Emotion as Part of the Work Role. *The Academy of Management Review, 12*(1), 23-37. <a href="https://doi.org/10.2307/257991">https://doi.org/10.2307/257991</a>
- Rasmussen, M. T. (2022). Welcoming Newcomers in Start-Ups: Challenges for Strategic

  Internal Communication. *International Journal of Strategic Communication*, *16*(2),

  273-290. https://doi.org/10.1080/1553118X.2022.2032716
- Rogers-Shaw, C., Choi, J., & Carr-Chellman, D. (2021). Understanding and Managing the Emotional Labor of Qualitative Research. *Forum: Qualitative Social Research*, 22(3). https://doi.org/10.17169/fqs-22.3.3652
- Schad, E. (2018). No Time to Talk! Teachers' Perceptions of Organizational

  Communication and Work-Related Health. [Doctoral thesis (compilation),

  Department of Psychology]. Lund University.

- Schaufeli, W. B., & Taris, T. W. (2014). A critical review of the job demands-resources model: Implications for improving work and health. In G. F. Bauer & O. Hämmig (Eds.), *Bridging occupational, organizational and public health: A transdisciplinary approach* (pp. 43–68). Springer Science + Business

  Media. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-007-5640-3 4
- Simonsson, C., & Heide, M. (2021). Developing a Communicative Logic The Key to

  Communication Professionalism. *International Journal of Strategic*Communication, 15(3), 253-273.

https://doi.org/10.1080/1553118X.2021.1906682

Sommerfeldt, E. J., & Kent, M. L. (2020). Public Relations as "dirty work": Disconfirmation,

Cognitive Dissonance, and Emotional Labor Among Public Relations Professors.

Public Relations Review, 46(4), 101933.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pubrev.2020.101933

Svedin, E., & Juteström, T. (2021). *Digital communication practitioners -*Commercialization of the lifeworld and emotional labour. [Bachelor's thesis, Lund University]. Lund University Publications.

<a href="https://lup.lub.lu.se/luur/download?func=downloadFile&recordOld=9082934&fil">https://lup.lub.lu.se/luur/download?func=downloadFile&recordOld=9082934&fil</a>

eOld=9083126

Swain, J. (2018). A Hybrid Approach to Thematic Analysis in Qualitative Research: Using a Practical Example. SAGE Research Methods.

https://doi.org/10.4135/9781526435477

Taylor, S. J., Bogdan, R., & DeVault, M. (2015). *Introduction to Qualitative Research Methods: A Guidebook and Resource.* John Wiley & Sons.

- The Swedish Research Council. (2002). Forskningsetiska principer inom humanistisk-samhällsvetenskaplia forskning.
- Thomas, D. R. (2006). A General Inductive Approach for Analyzing Qualitative Evaluation

  Data. *American Journal of Evaluation*, *27*(2), 237-246.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/1098214005283748">https://doi.org/10.1177/1098214005283748</a>
- Üzümcü, T. P., Günsel, A., & Yavaş, A. (2017). The Consequences of Internal Marketing

  Activities on Emotional Labor in Tourism Industry. *Journal of Human Sciences*,

  14(2), 1909. https://doi.org/10.14687/JHS.V14I2.4580
- Valeras, A. S. (2020). Healthcare Provider Burn-Out: A War with Uncertainty. *Families,*Systems, & Health, 38(1), 96-98. https://doi.org/10.1037/fsh0000473
- Van Gelderen, B., Konijn, E. A., & Bakker, A. B. (2017). Emotional Labor Among Police

  Officers: A Diary Study Relating Strain, Emotional Labor, and Service Performance.

  The International Journal of Human Resource Management, 28(6), 852-879.

  https://doi.org/10.1080/09585192.2016.1138500
- Walden, J. A. (2021). Enhancing Employee Well-Being Through Internal Communication.

  In L. R. Men & A. T. Verčič (Eds.), *Current Trends and Issues in Internal Communication* (pp. 149-163). Palgrave Macmillan. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-78213-9">https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-78213-9</a> 9
- Warren, C., & Karner, T. X. (2004). *Discovering Qualitative Methods: Field Research, Interviews, and Analysis.* Oxford University Press.

- Welch, M., & Jackson, P. R. (2007). Rethinking Internal Communication: A Stakeholder

  Approach. *Corporate Communications: An International Journal, 12*(2), 177-198.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1108/13563280710744847">https://doi.org/10.1108/13563280710744847</a>
- Widodo, H. P. (2014). Methodological Considerations in Interview Data Transcription.

  International Journal of Innovation in English Language Teaching and Research,

  3(1), 101-107.
- Wiles, R., Crow, G., Heath, S., & Charles, V. (2008). The Management of Confidentiality and Anonymity in Social Research. *International Journal of Social Research*Methodology, 11(5), 417-428. https://doi.org/10.1080/13645570701622231
- Wojcik, G., Wontorczyk, A., & Baranska, I. (2022). Job Demands, Resources and Burnout

  Among Polish Nurses During the Late Wave of COVID-19 Pandemic: The Mediating

  Role of Emotional Labor. *Frontiers in Psychiatry, 13*, 931391.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2022.931391">https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2022.931391</a>
- Xu, W., & Zammit, K. (2020). Applying Thematic Analysis to Education: A Hybrid Approach to Interpreting Data in Practitioner Research. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 19. https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406920918810
- Yeomans, L. (2019). *Public Relations as Emotional Labour*. Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315687162
- Yeomans, L., & FitzPatrick, L. (2017). Internal Communication. In R. Tench & L. Yeomans (Eds.), *Exploring Public Relations*. Pearson Education.
- Yin, R. K. (2013). Validity and Generalization in Future Case Study Evaluations. *Evaluation:*The International Journal of Theory, Research and Practice, 19(3), 321-332.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/1356389013497081">https://doi.org/10.1177/1356389013497081</a>

Zerfass, A., & Viertmann, C. (2017). Creating Business Value Through Corporate

Communication. *Journal of Communication Management*, 21(1), 68-81.

<a href="https://doi.org/10.1108/JCOM-07-2016-0059">https://doi.org/10.1108/JCOM-07-2016-0059</a>

## **Appendices**

## **Appendix 1**

Informed Consent Form

**Research project title**: Communication Professionals as the Office Factotum: A Study of Emotional Labour in the Communication Profession

Research investigators: Jordan Thunell Idumwonyi and Evelina Winberg

The interview will last 30 to 45 minutes. The authors do not anticipate any risks associated with your participation; however, a deeper reflection of your workplace may cause you to view your organisation critically. You have the right to stop the interview or withdraw from the study at any time.

Thank you for agreeing to be interviewed as part of this thesis. Ethical procedures for academic research undertaken by the University of Gothenburg require interviewees to explicitly agree to be interviewed and how their data will be used. This consent form is required for the researchers to ensure that you understand the purpose of your participation and agree to the conditions of your participation. As a participant, you will be protected by the EU General Data Protection Regulation 2016/679 (2016), which ensures that there will be no collection of sensitive data that would allow for recognition. However, there will be questions about age and gender; however, these are not enough for identification. There is no risk for participants to be in danger or part of dangerous research. This does not exclude the risk of discomfort; if this occurs, you have the option to withdraw from the interview, according to the European Commission (2021). Our supervisor and the academic personnel appointed to control the quality of the thesis project will be the only individuals who can require us to gain access to those files for academic research purposes only.

Would you, therefore, read the accompanying information sheet and then sign this form to certify that you approve the following:

- the interview will be recorded and a transcript will be produced
- if requested, you will be sent the transcript and allowed to correct any factual errors
- the interview transcript will be analysed by Jordan Thunell Idumwonyi and Evelina Winberg
- access to the interview transcript will be limited to Jordan Thunell Idumwonyi and Evelina Winberg, as well as students and teachers of the Master in Communication programme at the University of Gothenburg
- any summary interview content or direct quotations from the interview, that are
  made available through academic publications or other academic outlets will be
  anonymised so that you cannot be identified, and care will be taken to ensure that
  other information in the interview that could identify you is not revealed.

- the actual recording will be kept until the thesis has been graded and approved by the examiner
- any variation of the conditions above will only occur with your further explicit approval
- you are 18 or older

# I also understand that my words will be quoted directly. With regards to being quoted, please contact the authors if you agree with any of the statements:

- I do not agree to be quoted directly even if my name is not published and a made-up name (pseudonym) is used.
- I do not agree that the researchers may publish documents that contain quotations by me.

#### By signing this form I agree that;

- 1. I am voluntarily taking part in this project. I understand that I do not have to participate, and I can stop the interview at any time;
- 2. The transcribed interview or extracts from it may be used as described above;
- 3. I have read the information sheet;
- 4. I can request a copy of the transcript or other data from my interview and may make edits I feel necessary to ensure the effectiveness of any agreement made about confidentiality;
- 5. I have been able to ask any questions I might have, and I understand that I am free to contact the researcher with any questions I may have in the future.

#### If you have any additional questions or concerns about this study, please contact:

Jordan Thunell Idumwonyi

E-mail: gusjorid@student.gu.se

**Evelina Winberg** 

E-mail: guswinbev@student.gu.se

You can also contact Cristina Miguel our supervisor:

E-mail: <a href="mailto:cristina.miguel@ait.gu.se">cristina.miguel@ait.gu.se</a>

**Table 5**Sociodemographic Information

Sociodemographic Information
What is your age?
What pronouns do you use?
What is your nationality?
In what country do you live?
What is your professional work title?
What is your educational background?

#### Interview Guide

This student project is part of the course TIA069 Communication: Degree Project, which is part of the Master in Communication programme at the University of Gothenburg. First and foremost, the researchers would like to thank you for participating in this interview and contributing to this dissertation. The purpose is to investigate the concept of emotional labour concerning well-being in an internal communication context for communication professionals in Sweden. The interview will be audio recorded for general research purposes (e.g., transcribing and analysing the data). The interview will be semi-structured, meaning that some questions are prepared, and others will be spontaneous follow-up questions. If you have any questions, you are welcome to ask the researchers for clarification at any time during or after the interview. All data handling is anonymous and confidential. The interview will last 30-45 minutes and occur on a single occasion. Before the interview begins, you have read and approved the consent form and have had your rights as a participant in this study explained to you by the researchers.

Q1: Please tell us a little about yourself: What inspired you to become a communication professional?

Q2: What are the qualifications for becoming a communication professional at your current workplace?

Q3: What is your most preferred aspect of working as a communication professional?

Q4: What are the challenges of working as a communication professional?

Q5: What is an average day like for you as a communication professional?

Q6: How do you think emotions might manifest in your role as a communication professional?

Q7: How would you describe the internal communication at your workplace?

Q8: How often do you receive feedback on your work from management?

Q9: How involved is your management in the internal communication?

Q10: What emotions are allowed to exhibit in your workplace?

Q11: In what situations do you feel emotionally overwhelmed at work?

Q12: In what ways does your management support you if an emotionally difficult situation arises?

Q13: In what ways do your co-workers support you if an emotionally difficult situation arises?

Q14: What makes your workplace unique?

Q15: What do you associate with being a professional?

Q16: How does your organisation support you in managing work-related tasks?

Q17: What are the workplace resources at your job?

Q18: How do you think organisations can help communication professionals manage their work tasks more effectively?

Q19: Finally, is there anything you would like to add?

#### List of Quotations

"Well, I suppose it varies quite a bit depending on what role you have and in which organisation, which company, and where you work. Perhaps it is the challenge that it can be so incredibly broad that it can demand so much of you. You should be a TikTok expert, but you should also be able to write long communication plans, lead meetings or be very creative in workshops. So, you should handle a lot of administrative work maybe, as well as having opinions about internal and external communication". (Tim)

"I would say that one needs to be a multi-artist today to work as a communication professional. If one works alone as I do, one has to wear 45 different hats: one is an image expert, one should write good texts, one should know social media, one should ideally be web-savvy within different web production programmes and understand the whole picture, you must be a strategist, and you must be operational, you must know events, you must try to work strategically internally, you must work with both internal and external communication, and these are just a few of the things that fall on the communication professional today". (Olivia)

"I believe that you can have more emotions than you show at work, that you still hold back, and that it's probably for your own safety that you don't want to show too much, that you're afraid of showing too many emotions, so, of course, you hold back anger maybe. You might be so annoyed at someone who doesn't listen or that you don't get along that you try to swallow it, so it's more likely that you try to hold it in and then talk about it with a friend or a family member after work". (Naomi)

"You have to hide a little joy too. You can't keep cheering just because you've managed to publish something. It goes up and down, so you know it might be a messy and noisy week, but it usually works out. I can say that it is clear that you hold back emotions or frustration or something like that every day basically". (Priscilla)

"I'm probably quite open about my feelings in general, I have a fantastic workplace, so it's almost only positive here". (Mia)

"I believe I have managed to regulate my emotions well so far. I tend to hold back and not show to much emotion. If I disagree with something, I try to express it directly but constructively, so it doesn't come across as just negativity". (Veronica)

"I believe that the overall stress level for communication professionals is probably quite high, and there was a report about that from DIK not so long ago, that communication professionals were the profession with the highest rate of burnout, which I can completely understand. I believe that if you're a little younger and willing to do a lot of things where you don't have the courage to say no I don't have time for this but you just no it's fine and then you continue to work and then burnout comes like a letter in the mail". (Sonja)

#### Statement of Division of Work

This thesis has been co-authored by Evelina Winberg and Jordan Thunell Idumwonyi. The two authors participated in all stages of the process, both theoretical and practical. Each chapter of the thesis, as well as the data collection and analysis process, has received equal attention. Therefore, the workload has been fairly distributed among the researchers.